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Our mission is:
• To enrich people’s lives through research, teaching, learning and sharing 

of knowledge to push boundaries and deliver success.

• To be one of the world’s top seats of teaching and learning, providing a standout 
personalised student experience of the highest quality in an international context.

• To be one of the world’s top research-intensive universities, working with partners 
and stakeholders to undertake rigorous, relevant, impactful and excellent research.

• To ensure that social, cultural and economic impact is at the heart of everything we do.

• To build an integrated, collaborative and sustainable physical and digital infrastructure 
to underpin the University’s ambition.

• To be a progressive university where staff and students thrive within a culture 
of equality and diversity to enable them to achieve their aspirations.

Our values are:

• Innovation and relevance in our education, research and engagement.

• Independence and responsibility of thought and action.

• Sustainable partnerships with all our stakeholders to drive 
a culture of inclusion and accessibility.

• Respect for all both within and beyond the University.

• An empowered and ambitious University of Aberdeen 
community where all have an opportunity to thrive.
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Our highlights include:

• We were 55th in the world, and top in

Scotland, for research performance based on 

the top 10% of international journals. 

(CWTS Leiden Ranking 2015)

• We were rated top in the UK REF14 for

environmental and soil science research, 

second for English language and literature, 

and third for psychology and psychiatry.

• We are a Top Ten UK university for graduate

employability. 96% of our graduates enter work,

further study or training within six months of

graduation.  (Telegraph/HESA)

• The impact of 85% of our research was deemed 

to be ‘world leading’ or ‘internationally 

excellent’ in the UK’s REF14.

• In April we announced plans for our 

first overseas campus to open in Korea in 2016 

marking our international leadership in

energy-related research and teaching. 

• The international diversity of our community

grows, and this year 27 different nationalities

were represented in our Business School alone.

Image: Ian Cowe
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There is a great deal to reflect on from 2014/15 however perhaps the major

event was the development of the University’s Strategic Plan for 2015-2020.

A
cross the course of the past year, the University community and our key

stakeholders came together to discuss and shape what our vision,

mission and strategic objectives should be. It represented an important

opportunity to challenge our ambition for the University. We had an inspiring

set of conversations, with a clear consensus that the University’s vision should

be to transform the world with greater knowledge and learning, and that at the

heart of this are our people – our staff, our students and our alumni – the

University community.

Our Strategic Plan 2015-2020 articulates a vision and mission which is built around

being a broad based, international university with a commitment to excellence.

It recognises the importance of having an environment where all can flourish

and of strong partnerships with key stakeholders. Of course, no group is more

important than our students, with whom we must work closely to foster

continuous improvement in teaching, and many other areas of student

experience. Our Plan sets out the need, not only to grow our excellence in

research, but to be increasingly active in demonstrating and explaining to the

wider world the impact of that research. 

Essential to our Plan is that the University remains on a financially stable footing,

enabling us to continue investment in our estate and our digital infrastructure

for the future. In this past year we have opened the new Rocking Horse Nursery

which underpins our commitment to a campus which is family-friendly but which

also, as the first fully-certified Passivhaus build in the Scottish Higher Education

sector, reflects our commitment to being environmentally sustainable. In the

year ahead we look forward to opening the new home for the Rowett Institute

of Nutrition and Health, creating a further world-class academic facility at our

Foresterhill campus and complementing the Institute of Medical Sciences, Health

Sciences Building and the excellent medical teaching facilities of the Suttie

Centre. 

In addition, we welcome the development of our first international campus in

Korea, which will specialise in offshore related disciplines and provide impressive

new research facilities. It is a hugely exciting new venture which will place us at

the forefront of energy-related research and teaching, and which represents a

landmark development in our modern history as a university.

Our Strategic Plan
2015-2020 articulates a
vision and mission which
is built around being a
broad based,
international university
with a commitment to
excellence

Principal’s Report
Year Ended 31 July 2015
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We have, during the year, made some adjustments to our academic structures

to encourage and reward the greater innovation and income generation that is

now required for growth. I am confident that these changes will provide us with

the structure and framework from which to take forward our Plan. In particular,

we have for the first time plans, both strategic and operational, at School level

and the development of these has been inspiring.

Similarly, we need to ensure that the University is equipped to meet the

challenges of the digital age. To this end, I was delighted to see the launch of

two Massive Open Online Courses – one in relation to sustainable development

in Africa and one on nutrition and wellbeing. In a different but no less important

aspect to the digital agenda, our major programme for the transformation of our

business processes, OneSource, has achieved a major milestone this year in the

roll out of online curriculum selection and personalised electronic timetabling

straight to the student’s mobile or tablet. 

External assessments of our performance have, this year, been rewarding. We

have witnessed improvements in our performance in the international rankings

and the outcome of the 2014 Research Excellence Framework (REF) showed that,

overall, 76% of our assessed research was ‘world-leading’ or ‘internationally

excellent’. We can take further pride from the fact that 85% of our research was

judged to be ‘outstanding’ or ‘very considerable’ in terms of its real world impact.

We are committed to building upon our areas of current or future strength and

to enhancing our reputation for both the excellence of our research and the

impact that has on the wider world.

In mentioning these developments, I am aware that I cannot refer to all the

achievements of the Aberdeen community. They are many and varied but what

is universal is that each, in its own way, represents transformational impact on

the world beyond our campuses – this lies at the heart of our strategic vision. I

am grateful to everyone in the University community and to our stakeholders

and partners in Scotland and beyond who contribute to this noble endeavour.

I am confident that these

changes will provide us

with the structure and

framework from which

to take forward our

Plan

Professor Sir Ian Diamond FBA FRSE FAcSS

Principal and Vice-Chancellor

8 December 2015 
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Image: Ian Cowe

Last October we commemorated our
founder Bishop Elphinstone on the 
500th anniversary of his death, with 
a service in Latin that he would have
recognised, made all the more special 
by the brilliance of our Chapel Choir 
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Operating and Financial Review

Year ended 31 July 2015

Strategy and riSk

Strategic Plan 2015-2020

In common with other organisations we face some challenges in the years ahead, most notably in terms of government funding, maintaining

income from the rest of the UK (RUK) and overseas students, controlling pay awards and pension costs and an uncertain financial and

investment situation. The Scottish Government’s limit on the number of full-time undergraduate students from Scotland and the EU means

that opportunities for growth in numbers of students from these areas are limited to specific priorities for which the Scottish Funding

Council is providing additional places, in particular places linked to skills requirements and widening access. Numbers of RUK students are

projected to decline across the sector between 2015 and 2020 in line with a fall in school-age population, while the ‘lifting of the cap’ on

numbers in England will make competition for the recruitment of these students tougher still. The most significant opportunity for growth

in numbers therefore is in relation to international students but the tightening of immigration controls, amongst other factors, mean these

will remain challenging markets. 

Our new, ambitious Strategic Plan which was developed during 2014/15, seeks to both respond to these challenges ahead and to shape an

exciting future for the University. 

The Strategic Plan for 2015-2020 has a number of key goals:

People

Goal 1: To enhance further our caring culture of belonging and collegiality in the community of staff, students and alumni, focusing on

excellence realising full potential.

Goal 2: To attract and retain staff and students to a globally significant international institution strengthening capacity and excellence,

in Aberdeen or another University location. 

Goal 3: To continue to foster a positive University culture in order that all are fully engaged and committed to our future and to be

champions of Equality and Diversity.

teaching and Learning

Goal 1: To provide an outstanding educational environment reflecting the quality of an international institution, fostering a sense of

community supporting all students in achieving their ambitions.

Goal 2: Working in partnership, to offer an exceptional, flexible and individualised educational experience that is demand-driven for

students in Aberdeen, at a distance, and full or part-time. 

Goal 3: To ensure every student has the opportunity to realise their potential by providing excellent research-led teaching, assessment

and feedback.

Goal 4: To equip our students with skills and experience which will allow them to maximise their opportunities as responsible global

citizens upon graduation.

research and knowledge exchange

Goal 1: To strengthen our position as a world class, research intensive university, focusing on areas of excellence.

Goal 2: To increase the non-academic impact of our research on the world through an enhanced portfolio of knowledge exchange

activities with industry, business and society.

Taken together, the new Strategic Plan seeks to realise the shared ambition of the University community and pursue our vision of transforming

the world with greater knowledge and learning.
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Approach to Risk

Risk management was formally introduced in 2001/02, and our current process was approved by Court in March 2011. The Court sets and

approves annually the University’s risk appetite, and positively reviews the Corporate Register of Strategic Risks.

We operate an integrated risk management process, with the corporate risk register informing and being informed by local risk registers. 

The corporate risk register is reviewed by the Operating Board twice per year, and the Audit Committee receives the register and regular

reports from the University Management Group. Internal and External Audit teams monitor our risk register. We score risks by measuring

impact and likelihood, and have defined the extent to which we are tolerant of, or averse to risk. 

We are increasing engagement with risk assessment and the process of management, as well as reducing the bureaucracy of risk management.

As part of this we are embedding the Strategic Plan within the school planning process and are streamlining our process to ensure we focus

on managing our key risks effectively. Our strategic risks are aligned to our Strategic Plan and comprise 10 key risk areas which are considered

under the following broad headings: 

Strategic                                                 Regulatory                      Operational              

Staff recruitment and retention           Equality & diversity                        Infrastructure sustainability

Student recruitment                    Health & safety

Student experience                         Governance and core business

Research performance and impact

Internationalisation

Financial Sustainability

Operating and Financial Review – continued

Year ended 31 July 2015
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Operating and Financial Review – continued

Year ended 31 July 2015

FINANCE AND INVESTMENT

Financial Strategy

The University’s financial strategy is to deliver financial sustainability and:

• progress towards a historical cost surplus of 3% of total income to generate the cash reserves needed to fund investment;

• evaluate strategic opportunities and identify and quantify future resource needs to enable the University to respond to funding 

initiatives, opportunities and general fundraising which may impact on long-term financing;

• prioritise, manage and monitor our financial base, taking account of the financial climate;

• retain access to adequate working capital through cash balances or access to short term loan facilities; and

• promote income generation and diversity of income sources.

Our financial strategy informs our treasury policy, planning, budgeting and forecasting, and the programme of capital investment.

The financing and liquidity of the University and its exposure to financial risk are managed through the Finance Section. The financial strategy,

defines the working capital required to ensure that sufficient financial flexibility is retained. Annually we prepare three year financial forecasts

and ten year cash flows aligned to the strategic plan.

The treasury policy limits and monitors the level of funds that are placed in fixed rate deposits. Policies, incorporating clearly defined

controls and reporting requirements, are in place to monitor credit and market risk, as well as to maintain the financial flexibility of the

University.

Scope of the Financial Statements

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2015, which have been approved by the Court, represent the consolidated results of the

University and its subsidiaries, together “the Group”. 

Financial Highlights

The University’s results for the year ended 31 July 2015 are set out on pages 24 to 56.

The University achieved a historical cost surplus of £3.3m, compared to £11.4 million in the previous year. The 2015 historical cost surplus

includes amounts relating to early retirement of £3.5m, a surplus on the disposal of fixed assets of £4.3m and overall represents 1.4% of

income. The deficit including assets at valuation was £2.5m, compared to the surplus of £3.3m in 2014. 

The significant financial movements for 2014/15 were as follows:

• income from tuition fees and support grants increased by £4.1m (8.5%) including Rest of UK students;

• income from research grants and contracts decreased by £3.2m (4.8%), of which indirect cost recovery is 25.0% of direct costs 

incurred;

• on-going staff costs increased by £4.8m (3.4%) compared to the previous year. 

• the surplus on disposal of fixed assets of £4.3m includes £2.3m from the sale of the investment in Tau Rx shares and £1.5m from the 

disposal of Investment property.

Staffing costs and restructuring

During the year, Court approved schemes for early retirement and voluntary severance, recognising the rising cost of national insurance and

pension contributions and ensuring we retain the financial flexibility to continue to invest in the quality of our student experience, teaching

and research. We incurred exceptional costs relating to staff restructuring of £3.5m in the year and this has generated recurring savings of

£3.8m. The scheme has continued in 2015/16 and will generate additional recurrent savings for the University. This, and other savings agreed,

will support the delivery of the Strategic Plan.
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Capital Investment

During the year capital expenditure on buildings, plant and equipment was £29.9m. Significant items of note were:

• the continued work on the new Rowett Institute of Nutrition and Health building £15.2m

• a new Nursery Building £2.0m

• Hillhead Halls of Residence £2.8m

• OneSource the University’s new integrated corporate system £1.5m.

Grants totalling £4.8m (Development Trust £0.2m) were received to fund capital expenditure on buildings and equipment.

Investment Performance

The University’s fund management agreements are routinely monitored against agreed benchmark which are set with reference to recognised

indices. During the year the market value of endowment investments rose by 8.5% from £35m to £38m, compared with the previous year’s

increase of 4.2%. 

Cash Flow

The consolidated cash flow statement shows a net cash inflow from operating activities of £4.2m.  During the year the final instalment of

the loan of £10.4m was drawn down to fund our continued capital investment of £29.9 million during the year.  This, and the positive return

on our management of liquid resources, led to an overall reduction in cash of £0.4m for the year. 

Net Current Liabilities

At 31 July 2015, the University had net current liabilities of £10.9m, compared to the previous year of £5.0m.  Excluding debtors greater than

one year increases this liability to £19.4m, which compares to the previous year total of £13.5m.   This is mainly due to the use of cash and

current investments to fund our programme of capital investment and the timing of future capital receipts which can only be realised once

projects are completed.   Details of long term borrowings are described below.   Forecast cash flows show an overall improvement in the

liquidity of the University over the medium term and demonstrates that cash flows are sufficient to meet future obligations.

Payment of Creditors

The University has no single policy for payment of creditors but agrees to abide by agreements negotiated with its suppliers. No interest

was paid in the year under Late Payments of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act.

Long-Term Borrowing

We have an agreed loan facility £40m with Barclays Bank plc to fund the programme of capital investment. The facility has been fully drawn

out and utilised as follows:
£ Term Rate Repayable

• April 2007 4.6m 25 years 5.415% £1.15m – September 2021 and 2026; £2.3m September 2031

• September 2012 15.0m 24 years 3.195% £3.75m – September 2021, 2026, 2031 and 2036

• July 2014 10.0m 22 years 3.07% £2.5m – September 2021, 2026, 2031 and 2036

• April 2015 10.4m 22 years 3.2% £2.6m – September 2021, 2026, 2031 and 2036

The University is required to comply with a net cash flow to interest financial covenant with effect from the tenth anniversary of the facility agreement.

Pensions

University staff are eligible to join one of two defined benefit schemes – the University Superannuation Scheme (USS) for academic, senior

management and support staff, and the University of Aberdeen Superannuation and Life Assurance Scheme (UASLAS) for support staff. The

USS scheme implemented a range of changes from October 2011 that address the long-term sustainability of the scheme. The latest triennial

valuation of 31 March 2014 is currently unaudited and indicated a deficit of £5.3bn. No share of this deficit is reported in our balance sheet

under FRS 17 as USS is not currently able to calculate an individual employer’s share of the overall deficit. For the financial year ending 31 July

2016, under FRS 102, a proportion of the pension deficit for the USS scheme will be reported in the University’s balance sheet. The scheme for

support staff (UASLAS) moved to Career Average Revalued Earnings from the 1 August 2011. The FRS 17 deficit of the scheme increased from

£24.9m to £27.1m at 31 July 2015. The triennial valuation completed in 2014 reported a deficit of £2.6m and a recovery period to 31 July 2017 (4

years from the valuation date of 31 July 2013). 

Operating and Financial Review – continued

Year ended 31 July 2015
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW

Student Satisfaction

The University uses external benchmarks to monitor its performance in key areas, including performance in University League Tables, and the

annual National Student Survey (NSS) of final year undergraduates, carried out by Ipsos-Mori on behalf of the UK higher education funding

bodies. In 2012, the University also introduced its own Survey of non-final year undergraduates, carried out alongside the NSS.

We have a strong track record in our performance in NSS and have performed strongly in relation to the overall satisfaction of our students,

with the percentage of students indicating that they are satisfied with the quality of their course ranging between 86% and 91%, consistently

either better or in line with our benchmark. The survey results are reported to the University Committee on Teaching & Learning and to Senate,

and each College is asked to respond to the survey results in relation to the College-owned subject areas. This allows the Operating Board to

monitor and review action being taken to improve student satisfaction across all areas of the survey.

Sustainability and Social Responsibility

The University’s Sustainability and Social Responsibility strategy outlines our commitment across all aspects of institutional business.

The 2014 Research Excellence Framework (REF) highlighted institutional research strength in a number of areas, with sustainability research

featuring prominently. Aberdeen’s soil and environmental scientists were ranked top in the UK, and our transport researchers were ranked 2nd.

Our public health submission was top in Scotland. A number of our submissions were flagged as having world leading societal, cultural or

economic impact, including in areas such as sustainable transport, food security, health economics and cultural engagement. In teaching, the

University has further enhanced the range of inter-disciplinary Sixth Century Courses, with many tackling major societal challenges. We have

also seen our teaching ‘go global’ with the launch of two very successful Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs). The first examined sustainable

international development in Africa while the latter focused on nutrition and wellbeing. Both have brought University research and teaching

in these areas to a worldwide audience.

Our capital programme emphasises energy efficiency and sustainability. The new Rowett Institute building, due to be occupied in early 2016,

will provide a state-of-the-art facility for nutrition and health research but is also expected to achieve an ‘Outstanding’ environmental

assessment (BREEAM) and was short-listed in the 2015 BREEAM awards. Our new-build nursery facility, which opened in the summer of 2015,

provides a bright, modern facility for the youngest members of the University community and is well on course to achieve an unprecedented

dual accreditation as both a BREEAM ‘Excellent’ building and a fully certified Passivhaus build, an exacting low-energy methodology. Meanwhile,

we continue to explore the scope for renewable energy generation opportunities both on-site and in collaboration with off-site partners.

The wider principles of social responsibility can also be seen across a range of institutional commitments. In 2014/15 the University has worked

to secure accreditation as a Living Wage Employer; Project Search, which helps young people with learning difficulties into employment,

continues to thrive, with the 2013/14 cohort achieving the highest employment rate for any such scheme in Europe; and in procurement,

administrative colleagues have worked with our Students’ Association to affiliate the University with the Electronics Watch supply-chain

initiative and to secure a successful re-accreditation of our status as a Fairtrade university.

Our links with the local community also continue to evolve, with a growing programme of public lectures and opportunities for community

engagement with the research outputs of our academic staff.

Health, Safety and Wellbeing

We take our responsibilities for health, safety and wellbeing of our employees and that of students and visitors very seriously. During the

year our Health and Safety Committee kept the University’s health and safety arrangements under review. All serious injuries and other

incidents were reported to the Committee and the Committee assured itself that appropriate investigations had taken place and suitable

measures were taken for prevention. The Committee also received a report from the Health and Safety Laboratory on their analysis of the

safety culture at the University. The areas identified for further investigation were remitted to the appropriate focus groups.

The arrangements in place for health and safety within individual schools were audited by our health and safety team to assure compliance

with the University’s Health and Safety policy. In addition, the Estates department received an independent external audit.

Operating and Financial Review – continued

Year ended 31 July 2015
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During the year, we received a CUBO (College and University Business Officers) award for the campaign ‘CluedUp’. ‘CluedUp’ is an integrated

student health, safety and wellbeing campaign with inventive ways to inform and engage with students on wide ranging issues related to

health, safety and wellbeing both on and off campus. Central to the campaign was the development of partnerships with organisations in

the local community and beyond, such as Police Scotland, Aberdeen City Council, NHS Scotland and First Bus. As part of the campaign, the

team also hosted the first annual Campus Safety Day last October – which the Suzy Lamplugh Trust used as a media case study.

Equality and Diversity

We are committed to a comprehensive approach to Equality and Diversity for all our staff and students. Our policy aims to prevent

discriminatory practices and seeks to create a culture where staff and students can reach their full potential. It is the University’s policy to

select and treat staff and students on the basis of their merits only and irrespective of colour, race, nationality, national origins, disability,

sexual orientation, religion or belief, family circumstances, political beliefs, gender, gender reassignment, trade union membership, age or

any other unfair distinction. We are committed to providing a learning, working and social environment in which the rights and dignity of

all our members are respected, and which is free from discrimination, prejudice, intimidation and all forms of harassment and bullying. This

Equality and Diversity Policy will be monitored and reviewed regularly and promoted throughout the University.

The Equality and Diversity Policy is implemented across the University through a number of initiatives. The principles of Equality and Diversity

are firmly embedded in the University’s new Strategic Plan 2015-2020. The University’s Equality Outcomes, which drive actions on Equality

and Diversity, were reviewed and progress was detailed in a Mainstreaming Equality report. The report recognised that the University has

made significant progress on supporting women in STEMM (Science, Technology, Engineering, Maths and Medicine) and was one of the first

Universities to sign up to the expanded Athena SWAN Charter, which was launched in 2015. The University’s second International Women’s

Day Conference was highly successful and plans are in place for next year’s event. The University achieved an improved score in Stonewall’s

Workplace Equality Index in 2015 and strives to continue to promote and celebrate LGBT equality. The Equality Network Groups continue

to thrive, with the Staff LGBT Network being shortlisted for the award of ‘Network Group of the Year’ by the Scottish Equality Network. All

members of staff now undertake Equality and Diversity training, and training for students is due to be launched in 2015.

Conclusion

Overall, the University remains in a position of financial and academic strength. This has been achieved through the efforts of all the

University’s staff including academic, research, administrative and technical and by tight budgetary control in an environment where there

are significant cost pressures and limited increases in relation to government funding. I would like to acknowledge the work of the Finance

Section in managing the finances during the year and in the preparation of the Financial Statements. 

Mr Brian Pack

Convener of the Operating Board

Operating and Financial Review – continued

Year ended 31 July 2015
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The University of Aberdeen is committed to high standards of corporate governance relevant to the higher education sector. This summary

describes the manner in which the University has applied the principles set out in the Scottish Code of Good Higher Education Governance

(published July 2013). Its purpose is to help the reader of the financial statements understand how the principles have been applied, and to

set out the basis for the Court’s opinion that the University has, insofar as is appropriate and permissible under its constitutional basis,

complied with the Code during the year ended 31 July 2015.

Constitution, Governance and Regulation 

The University was formed by Royal Charter on 10 February 1495 and is one of the four Scottish Ancients. The University Court of the

University of Aberdeen is a body corporate with perpetual succession and a common seal. The University derives its status, powers and

framework of governance from the Universities (Scotland) Acts 1858-1966 and by the Ordinances, made under these Acts, and Resolutions

of the Court. The Court is the executive governing body of the University and is responsible for its mission and strategic direction,

administrative arrangements, financial health, well-being of staff and students and, in association with the Senate, for establishing and

maintaining high standards of academic conduct and probity.

The Universities (Scotland) Acts define the powers of the University Court, the Senate and the General Council, each of which has clear

functions and responsibilities within the governance and management of the University’s business. The University Court is charged with the

administration and management of the revenue and property of the University, and has the power to review any decision of the Senate on

appeal. It is responsible for the University’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Senate, which consists of ex

officio and elected academic staff and students, is responsible for the regulation and superintendence of teaching and student discipline

and for promoting research. The General Council was established by the Universities (Scotland) Act 1858 with the right to take into

consideration questions affecting the well-being and prosperity of the University. Graduates of the University and certain categories of

University staff are automatically members of the General Council

The University is an exempt charity by virtue of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, and is registered with the Office

of the Scottish Charity Regulator under number SC013683.

The University is regulated principally by the Scottish Funding Council under a Financial Memorandum. The University complies with

conditions of the grant set out in the funding arrangements. The Scottish Funding Council has developed Outcome Agreements with each

University to ensure that institutions are working in support of the Scottish Government’s priorities. We are required to report regularly on

our performance against agreed outcomes, to ensure that we continue to meet conditions of grant.

Governing Body

In accordance with the provisions of the Universities (Scotland) Acts and the Ordinances made by the Court, the composition of the Court

is currently 28. The membership of the Court during 2014/15 is listed on page 20. Following a review of its governance arrangements against

the new Scottish Code of Good Higher Education Governance, the Court agreed to seek Privy Council approval for a reduction in the size

of Court to 25 members as recommended by the Code. The Court has also agreed to seek to amend its composition to guarantee a majority

of independent members. In June 2015 the Scottish Government published a Bill on Higher Education Governance which includes proposals

that would change the composition of university governing bodies. The Court has, therefore, agreed not to pursue changes to its composition

until such time as any future legislative requirements resulting from the Bill are confirmed. 

The University Court in 2014/15 had a majority of independent members including Assessors elected by the General Council and those

appointed by Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire Councils, by the Chancellor and by the Rector, as well as co-opted members appointed

directly by the Court. Senate Assessors are elected by the Senate and there is provision for at least one student member. The Rector is

elected by the student body and is the ordinary president of the Court. In 2014/15 a new Rector was elected who has opted to exercise the

right to preside. The Court recognises that the statutory position of the Rector as the ordinary president is not consistent with the description

of the role of the Chair contained in the Scottish Code of Good Higher Education Governance. However, the Court appoints a Senior

Governor, who currently performs the wider role of Chairman and who represents the University at meetings of the Committee of Scottish

Chairs and internally to act as the leading Governor in matters of governance and management. The role of the Senior Governor in this

regard is recognised by the SFC, and the Court has adopted a Rector’s Protocol to define the respective roles of Rector and Senior Governor.

Statement of Corporate Governance 
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The Court has adopted a Statement of Primary Responsibilities and routinely undertakes a wide-ranging review of its effectiveness against

sector guidance. Following the publication in 2013 of the Scottish Code of Good Higher Education Governance, the Court has reviewed its

governance arrangements and, as described in this statement, has agreed a number of revisions to comply with the principles of the Code. 

The University maintains a Register of Interests of members of the Court and of members of senior management, which is available for

public consultation. In addition, individuals are routinely asked to declare any interest in relation to a Court or Committee agenda item and

any significant change to the external commitments of the Chair would be reported to the Governance and Nominations Committee.

Members of Court are invited and encouraged at regular intervals to participate in governor development events organised by the Leadership

Foundation for Higher Education.

Corporate Strategy

The Court is responsible for approving the University’s Strategic Plan. The Operating and Financial Review on pages 8 to 13 reports on the

University’s strategic performance. 

Key Committees of the Court

The Court has four meetings each year, but much of its detailed work is addressed in the first instance by Committees, in particular, the

Operating Board, the Audit, the Governance and Nominations, and the Remuneration Committees. All of these Committees are formally

constituted with terms of reference available on the University website. Each Committee reviews its terms of reference annually to ensure

they remain relevant and appropriate. The membership of these key Committees during 2014/15 is listed on page 20. Where appropriate,

these Committees have delegated authority from the Court to take decisions on certain matters and major decisions are formally reported

to the Court. Similarly, when the Court delegates power to the Principal with at least one other senior member of the Court to take decisions

between meetings, such decisions are formally reported to the Court.

In respect of its strategic and development responsibilities, the Court receives recommendations and advice from the Operating Board, a

committee of the Court. The Operating Board’s composition includes four lay members, appointed by the Court from amongst its members.

The Operating Board inter alia recommends to the Court the University’s annual revenue and capital budgets and monitors performance in

relation to the approved budgets.

The Strategic Business Ventures Group is a sub-committee of the Operating Board and contains lay representation. It oversees, monitors

and coordinates activities in support of the University’s spin-out and subsidiary companies and advises on risk management and decisions

regarding company creation and the sale of equity in spin-out or subsidiary companies.

The Governance and Nominations Committee has a standing role to advise Court on matters of governance and to conduct on its behalf,

reviews of the University’s governance. The Committee undertakes a review of effectiveness annually through benchmarking against the

Scottish Code of Good HE Governance and through an annual appraisal questionnaire of governors. During 2014/15, the Court considered

the scope and timing of an externally facilitated review of effectiveness which will be considered further once the implications of legislation

proposed by the Scottish Government on higher education governance have progressed through Parliament. The Committee also has

responsibility for considering nominations for vacancies in the Court membership and vacancies in the membership of Court sub-committees.

The Committee is not chaired by the Senior Governor but by another independent member of Court, which reflects the remit and role of

the Committee extending beyond that of a nominations committee into matters of governance and which also enables the Convener of

the Committee to undertake when required, the role of independent intermediary described in the Scottish Code of Good HE Governance.

The Committee is cognisant of the need for Court to have in its membership an appropriate mix of skills, experience and diversity. The

Court has adopted a Statement of Intent on Diversity within its membership, which includes a goal of achieving and maintaining female

representation of a minimum of 25%, with aspirations to achieve at least 40% over the longer term. The University has implemented steps

to ensure that the electoral processes and appointing bodies for other members of Court also take these considerations into account insofar

as such appointment processes can allow. Vacancies for co-opted independent members are publicly advertised.

The Remuneration Committee determines the remuneration and conditions of service of the most senior staff, including the Principal. The

Committee is chaired by the Senior Governor and its membership is entirely independent. In 2014/15, the President of the Students’

Association and a non-academic staff member of the Court were also in attendance at meetings of the Committee. Where appropriate, the

Committee obtains further independent advice. It meets at least twice annually and reports to Court at least once a year.

Statement of Corporate Governance – continued
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Audit, Risk Management and Internal Control 

The Audit Committee, which has a predominantly lay membership, includes members with directly relevant experience, and is chaired by an

independent member of the Court. It meets five times a year, with the University’s internal and external auditors in attendance at all meetings.

The Audit Committee oversees and reports to Court, its view of the effectiveness of the University’s risk management arrangements, the operation

of which is overseen by the University Management Group but with Risk being a regular item on the Audit Committee agenda. 

The Audit Committee considers detailed reports from the internal and external auditors, together with recommendations for the improvement

of the University’s systems of internal control and risk management, together with University management’s responses and implementation plans.

The Audit Committee’s role is one of high level review of the arrangements for internal control, risk management and value for money. It has

authority to investigate any matters within its terms of reference. It also receives and considers reports from the Scottish Funding Council as they

affect the University’s business and monitors adherence to the regulatory requirements. While senior executives attend meetings of the Audit

Committee, as necessary, they are not members of the Committee. Each meeting commences with a presentation from management on a key

University business development.

The Court is of the view that there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the University's significant risks up to the date

of approval of the annual reports and accounts. This process has been formalised to accord with the internal control guidance for directors in the

Corporate Code. It is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable

and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or financial loss. This process is regularly reviewed by the governing body and accords

with the internal control guidance as applicable to the higher education sector.

The University fully endorses the provisions of the Scottish Funding Council’s Financial Memorandum. The University retains an external firm of

Internal Auditors appointed at least every five years through a competitive tendering process. The University last undertook such a tendering

process during 2013/14 as a result of which it appointed a new firm of Internal Auditors with effect from 1 August 2014. During 2014/15 the external

audit service was also tendered, with the new contract coming into place for year ending 31 July 2015. The University Court receives at least

annually, a report on internal audit activity, including an independent assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the University’s systems

of internal control, including risk management and financial control. The University recognises through its Policy and Procedure on Public Interest

Disclosure (Whistleblowing) that the raising of legitimate concerns by staff, students, members of Court or the general public and which are in

the interests of the University, its staff or students, or of the general public is a practice which should be encouraged.

Senior Officers

The Principal, who is a member of the Court ex officio has responsibility for implementing the decisions of the Court, for initiating discussion and

consultation on the University's future development and for ensuring that appropriate proposals are presented to the governing body, and, as the

Designated Officer of the University under the terms of the Financial Memorandum between the University and the Scottish Funding Council, for

ensuring that the Court takes cognisance of the terms of the Financial Memorandum in all its decision making.

The Secretary is the principal officer of the Court and is responsible for ensuring that the Court acts within its powers and follows proper

procedures. The Secretary provides independent advice to Court members about their individual and collective responsibilities and how they

should be discharged.

Going Concern

The University’s activities and the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out in the Operating and

Financial Review. Its cash flows and liquidity are set out in more detail in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

The Court considers that the University has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

Conclusion

Overall, the Court is of the view that it has in place a robust set of governance arrangements and procedures to fulfil its responsibilities.

Sir Moir Lockhead

Senior Governor of the University Court, 8 December 2015

Statement of Corporate Governance – continued
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The Court has adopted a Statement of Primary Responsibilities as follows and which was in operation during 2014/15. The Court’s Primary

Responsibilities are:

Strategic Direction 

1 To approve the mission and strategic vision of the University, including institutional and longer-term academic and business plans,

and key performance indicators, and to ensure that they meet the interests of stakeholders, including students, staff, alumni, local

and national communities and funding bodies.

2 To safeguard the good name and values of the University.

Supervisory Obligations

3 To delegate to the Principal, as chief executive officer, authority for the academic, corporate, financial, estate and human resource

management of the University, and to establish and monitor such management functions as shall be undertaken by and under the

authority of the Principal.

4 To ensure the quality of educational provision through the review of decisions of the Senate made under its statutory powers to

regulate and superintend the teaching and discipline of the University and to promote research.

Corporate Responsibilities

5 To be the University’s legal authority and, as such, to ensure that systems are in place for meeting the University’s legal obligations,

including those arising from contracts and other legal commitments made in the University’s name.

6 To act as trustee for any property, legacy, endowment, bequest or gift in support of the work and welfare of the University, which

is not within the control of the University of Aberdeen Development Trust.

7 To ensure that the University’s constitution, as enacted in the Acts, Ordinances and Resolutions Affecting the University 1858-1990

and subsequent legislation, is followed and that appropriate advice is available to enable this to happen.

8 To be the employing authority for all staff in the University.

9 To ensure that the University behaves ethically, responsibly and with respect for the environment and for society at large.

Controls, Accountability and Effectiveness

10 To be the principal financial and business authority of the University, to ensure that proper books of account are kept, to approve

the annual budget and financial statements, to ensure adherence to the funding requirements specified by the Scottish Funding

Council, and to have overall responsibility for the University’s assets, property and estate and their use.

11 To ensure the establishment and monitoring of systems of control and accountability, including financial and operational controls

and risk assessment and management, so as to maintain the solvency of the University and safeguard its assets.

12 To ensure that processes are in place to monitor and evaluate the performance and effectiveness of the University against approved

plans and key performance indicators, which should be benchmarked against other comparable institutions, wherever possible.

13 To ensure that arrangements are in place to promote the proper management of the health, safety and security of students, staff

and others affected by the University.

14 To make provision, in consultation with the Senate, for the general welfare of students.

15 To ensure that procedures are in place for dealing with internal grievances, conflicts of interest and public interest disclosure.

Statement of Primary Responsibilities of the Court
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16 To establish processes to monitor and evaluate the performance and effectiveness of the Court and its committees and to ensure

that business is conducted in as open a manner as possible, in accordance with best practice in higher education corporate

governance and with the principles of public life drawn up by the Committee on Standards in Public Life.

17 To ensure, through the appointment of co-opted lay persons, a balance of skills and experience amongst the membership of the

Court to meet its primary responsibilities.

Monitoring of Senior Executives

18 To appoint the Principal as chief executive officer, and to put in place suitable arrangements for monitoring his/her performance.

19 To appoint the Secretary to the Court and to ensure that there is an appropriate separation in the lines of accountability between

responsibilities to the Court and managerial responsibilities within the University.

These primary responsibilities include those pertaining to financial matters are stated above. The detailed requirements relating to financial

matters are governed by law, agreements and regulations as decreed by various bodies and are stated as follows:

The Court is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position

of the University and enable it to ensure that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the statutes, the Statement of

Recommended Practice on Accounting in Higher Education Institutions and other relevant accounting standards. In addition, within the

terms and conditions of a Financial Memorandum agreed between the Scottish Funding Council and the Court of the University of Aberdeen,

the Court, through its Designated Officer, is required to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view

of the University’s state of affairs and of the surplus or deficit and cash flows for that year.

When preparing the financial statements the Court has ensured that:

• suitable accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;

• judgements and estimates are made that are reasonable and prudent;

• applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial

statements; and

• financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

The Court has taken reasonable steps to:

• ensure that funds from the Scottish Funding Council are used only for the purposes for which they have been given and in accordance

with the Financial Memorandum with the Funding Council and any other conditions which the Funding Council may from time to

time prescribe;

• ensure that there are appropriate financial and management controls in place to safeguard public funds and funds from other sources;

• safeguard the assets of the University and prevent and detect fraud; and

• secure the economic, efficient and effective management of the University’s resources and expenditure.

The key elements of the University’s system of internal financial control, which is designed to discharge the responsibilities set out above,

include the following:

• clear definitions of the responsibilities of, and the authority delegated to, heads of academic and professional departments;

• a comprehensive medium and short-term planning process, supplemented by detailed annual income, expenditure, capital and cash

flow budgets;

• regular reviews of key performance indicators and business risks and monthly reviews of financial results, involving variance reporting

and updates of forecast outturns;

• clearly defined and formalised requirements for approval and control of expenditure, with investment decisions involving capital

or revenue expenditure being subject to formal detailed appraisal and review according to approval levels set by the Court;

Statement of Primary Responsibilities of the Court – continued
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• comprehensive Financial Regulations, detailing financial controls and procedures, approved by the Operating Board and the Court;

and

• an outsourced professional Internal Audit team whose annual programme is approved by the Audit Committee and endorsed by

the Court and whose head provides the Court with a report on internal audit activity within the University and an opinion on the

adequacy and effectiveness of the University’s system of internal control, including internal financial control.

Any system of internal financial control can, however, only provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement

or financial loss.

Statement of Primary Responsibilities of the Court – continued
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Membership of Court and Key Committees 2014-2015

oPeRatinG boaRd MeMbeRshiP:

Mr Brian Pack (Convener)

Miss Emily Beever (to 30.06.15)

Miss Genna Clarke (from 01.07.15)

Ms Jacquelynn Craw (to 30.09.14)

Professor Pete Edwards (to 01.10.14)

Professor Jan Skakle (from 03.03.15)

Professor Sir Ian Diamond

Professor Stephen Logan (to 31.01.15)

Professor Jeremy Kilburn (from 01.03.15)

Professor Norman Hutchison

Professor Steve Heys

Mr James Hall

Mr Alex Arthur

Mrs Caroline Inglis

ReMuneRation coMMittee MeMbeRshiP:

Sir Moir Lockhead (Convener )

Mr Brian Pack

Dr Audrey Baxter (to 01.10.14)

Mr Colin Duncan (from 02.10.14)

Ms Jacquelynn Craw (to 30.09.14)

Mrs Kathryn McPhail (from 01.10.14)

Mr David Steyn

Miss Emily Beever (in attendance)

Mr Brian Paterson (in attendance)

GoveRnance noMinations coMMittee  MeMbeRshiP:

Mr James Hall (Convener)

Professor Sir Ian Diamond

Sir Moir Lockhead

Miss Emily Beever (to 30.06.14)

Miss Genna Clarke (from (01.07.15)

Mr Brian Pack

Professor Jan Skakle

Mrs Jenny Shirreffs

audit coMMittee MeMbeRshiP:

Mr Kenneth Murray  (Convener)

Mr Richard Bickerton (to 20.04.15)

Mr David MacFarlane

Ms Morag McNeill

Mr Alan McNiven

Professor Sir Lewis Ritchie

RectoR

Ms Maggie Chapman  (from 01.01.15)

PRinciPal

Professor Sir Ian Diamond

chancelloR’s assessoR & senioR GoveRnoR

Sir Moir Lockhead

RectoR’s assessoR

Mr Graham Hunter (to 31.12.14)

vice-PRinciPals

Professor Stephen Logan (to 31.01.15)

Professor Jeremy Kilburn (from 01.03.15)

Professor Peter McGeorge

Professor Phil Hannaford

assessoR: abeRdeenshiRe council

Councillor Ronald McKail

assessoR: abeRdeen city council

Councillor Jenny Laing

assessoRs: GeneRal council

Ms Jacquelynn Craw (to 30.09.14)

Professor Nuala Booth (from  01.10.14)

Mr Alex Arthur

Mrs Jenny Shirreffs

Mr Colin Duncan

assessoRs:  senatus

Professor Pete Edwards (to 01.10.14)

Professor Corri Black

Professor Steve Heys

Professor Norman Hutchison

Professor Jan Skakle

Dr Nir Oren (from 26.01.15)

PResident, students’ association

Miss Emily Beever (to 30.06.14)

Miss Genna Clarke (from 01.07.15)

co-oPted MeMbeRs

Dr Audrey Baxter (to 01.10.14)

Mr James Hall

Mr David MacFarlane

Mrs Kathryn McPhail

Mr Kenneth Murray

Mr Brian Pack

Mr Brian Paterson

Mr David Steyn
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Attendance at University Court and Committee Meetings for the year to 31 July 2015

Member

Ms M Chapman

Professor Sir I Diamond

Sir M Lockhead

Mr G Hunter

Professor S Logan

Professor J Kilburn

Professor P McGeorge

Professor P Hannaford

Councillor R McKail

Councillor J Laing

Ms J Craw

Mr C Duncan

Mr A Arthur

Mrs J Shirreffs

Professor N Booth

Professor P Edwards

Dr C Black

Professor N Hutchison

Professor J Skakle

Dr C Brittain

Professor S Heys

Dr N Oren

Miss E Beever

Dr A Baxter

Mr J Hall

Ms K McPhail

Mr K Murray

Mr B Pack

Mr B Paterson

Mr D Steyn

Mr D MacFarlane

Mr R Bickerton

Professor Sir L Ritchie

Mr A McNiven

Ms M McNeill

*Mrs C Inglis

University
Court

(4 in year)

2 of 2

4 of 4

4 of 4

2 of 2

2 of 2

2 of 2

3 of 4

4 of 4

4 of 4

4 of 4

1 of 1

4 of 4

4 of 4

3 of 4

3 of 3

0 of 1 

4 of 4

4 of 4

2 of 4

3 of 4

4 of 4

2 of 2

4 of 4

0 of 4

2 of 4

4 of 4

3 of 4

4 of 4

4 of 4

4 of 4

4 of 4

Audit
Committee

(5 in year)

5 of 5

5 of 5

1 of 4

3 of 5

4 of 5

5 of 5

Operating
Board

(7 in year)

7 of 7

3 of 3

2 of 2

0 of 1

7 of 7

1 of 1

6 of 7

3 of 3

5 of 7

7 of 7

5 of 7

6 of 7

7 of 7

Remuneration
Committee
(2 in year)

2 of 2

2 of 2

2 of 2†

2 of 2

2 of 2

2 of 2†

2 of 2

Governance and
Nominations
Committee
(3 in year)

3 of 3

3 of 3

1 of 3

3 of 3

2 of 3

3 of 3

3 of 3

* The Secretary is a member of the Operating Board but not a member of the Court, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Governance and Nominations Committee.
† Miss Beever and Mr Paterson are not members of the Remuneration Committee but were in attendance at meetings of the Committee as
noted above.



22 • Accounts • University of Aberdeen

Independent auditor’s report to the Court of the University of Aberdeen 

We have audited the Group and University financial statements (“the financial statements”) of the University of Aberdeen for the year ended

31 July 2015 which comprise the Consolidated Income and Expenditure Account, the Consolidated and University Balance Sheets, the

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Statement of Consolidated Historical Cost Surpluses, the Statement of Consolidated Total

Recognised Gains and Losses, the Statement of Principal Accounting Policies and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that

has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted

Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the University Court of the University of Aberdeen, in accordance with paragraph 12 of the Universities (Scotland)

Act 1966 and, in the University Court’s role as charity trustees, in accordance with section 44 (1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment

(Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation 10 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended). Our audit work has been

undertaken so that we might state to the University Court of the University of Aberdeen those matters we are required to state to it in an

auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone

other than the University Court of the University of Aberdeen for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the University Court of the University of Aberdeen and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Primary Responsibilities of the Court set out on pages 17-19, the University Court of the University

of Aberdeen is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements which give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit, and

express an opinion, on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance

that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether

the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and University’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately

disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the University Court of the University of Aberdeen; and the

overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Accounts to

identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect

based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any

apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and University’s affairs as at 31 July 2015 and of the Group’s income and expenditure,

recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and with the 2007 Statement of

Recommended Practice – Accounting for Further and Higher Education; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation

14 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the terms of our engagement

In our opinion, in all material respects:

• funds from whatever source administered by the University for specific purposes have been properly applied to those purposes

and if relevant, managed in accordance with relevant legislation, and any other terms and conditions attached to them; and

• funds provided by the Scottish Funding Council have been applied in accordance with the Financial Memorandum.
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Independent auditor’s report to the Court of the University of Aberdeen – continued

Matters on which, under the terms of our engagement, we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended)

and the terms of our engagement require us to report to you if, in our opinion:

• the information given in the Operating and Financial Review is inconsistent in any material respect with the financial statements; or

• adequate and proper accounting records have not been kept; or

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

David Derbyshire

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants 

KPMG LLP is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006

37 Albyn Place

Aberdeen

AB10 1JB

9 December 2015
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Consolidated Income and Expenditure Account

Year ended 31 July 2015

 

 

 

 

            

         2015  2014 

       Note  £000  £000 

 
Income            

            

Funding body grants       1  80,277  81,534 

Tuition fees and educational contracts      2  52,070  47,983 

Research grants and contracts      3  62,844  66,045 

Other income       4  43,684  38,523 

Endowment and investment income      5  949  836 

Total Income         239,824  234,921 

            

Less: Share of income from joint venture     16  (3,150)  (2,422) 

Net income         236,674  232,499 

            

Expenditure            

            

Staff costs       6  142,812  138,057 

Early retirement/severance costs      6  3,481  26 

Other operating expenses       7  76,244  77,266 

Depreciation       8  18,017  19,058 

Interest and other finance costs      9  2,352  2,535 

Total expenditure       10  242,906  236,942 

            

Deficit after depreciation of tangible assets at valuation and before tax    (6,232)  (4,443) 

            

Taxation      (568)                 - 

         

Share of operational deficit  in joint venture    16  (46)  (132) 

            

Deficit before disposal of fixed assets      (6,846)  (4,575) 

            

Surplus on disposal of fixed assets     11  4,340  7,864 

            

(Deficit)/surplus on continuing operations after depreciation        

of assets at valuation  disposal of fixed assets and tax    12  (2,506)  3,289 

            

Transferred from accumulated income in endowment funds    25  555  37 

(Deficit)/surplus for year retained within general reserves    26  (1,951)  3,326 

            

 

Statement of Group Historical Cost Surpluses and Deficits       

Year ended 31 July 2015           

 
(Deficit)/Surplus on continuing operations    12  (2,506)  3,289 

            

Difference between historical cost depreciation and the actual       

charge for the year calculated on the revalued amount    26  5,280  6,118 

            

Valuation gains realised on disposal on tangible fixed assets     26  499  2,020 

            

Historical cost surplus for the year       3,273  11,427 

            

 
The consolidated income and expenditure of the University and its subsidiaries relate wholly to continuing operations. 

 

 

Statement of Group Historical Cost Surpluses and Deficits

Year ended 31 July 2015
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         2015  2014 

       Note  £000  £000 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Deficit)/surplus on continuing operations after depreciation 

        of assets at valuation disposal of fixed assets  

   

12 

 

(2,506) 

 

3,289 

Unrealised (deficit)/surplus on revaluation of fixed assets 

     

26 

 

(178) 

 

29,878 

Unrealised surplus/(deficit) on revaluation of fixed asset investments 

 

26 

 

1,305 

 

(244) 

Increase in market value of endowment assets 

 

17 & 25 

 

3,408 

 

1,219 

New endowments 

      

25 

 

117 

 

269 

Actuarial loss in respect of pension schemes 

     

26 & 36 

 

(2,578) 

 

(1,113) 

Total recognised (loss)/gain relating to the year 

     

(432) 

 

33,298 

            

            Reconciliation 

           

            Opening reserves and endowments 

       

367,898 

 

334,600 

Total recognised (loss)/gain for the year 

       

(432) 

 

33,298 

Closing reserves and endowments 

       

367,466 

 

367,898 

            

Statement of Consolidated Total Recognised Gains and Losses

Year ended 31 July 2015
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     Consolidated University  Consolidated University 
   Note  2015  2015  2014  2014 
     £000  £000  £000  £000 

Fixed assets 
           

            Tangible assets 
  

13 
 

572,099 
 

556,581 
 

561,401 
 

545,446 

Benefit arising from acquisition of  
          Rowett Research Institute  

  
14 

 
(10,704) 

 
- 

 
(11,011) 

 
- 

Investments 
  

15 
 

6,509 
 

16,876 
 

5,605 
 

15,972 

Investment in joint venture: 
              Share of gross assets 
  

16 
 

20,478 
 

- 
 

20,998 
 

- 

   Share of gross liabilities 
  

16 
 

(9,815) 
 

- 
 

(10,289) 
 

- 

     
578,567 

 
573,457 

 
566,704 

 
561,418 

            Endowment assets 
  

17 
 

37,994 
 

37,994 
 

35,024 
 

35,024 

            Current assets 
            
           Stocks 
  

18 
 

289 
 

289 
 

339 
 

337 
Debtors (including debtors over one year 

of £8,500,000 (2014: £8,500,000) 
  

19 
 

38,184 
 

38,244 
 

34,138 
 

30,732 

Investments 
  

20 
 

6,177 
 

5,169 
 

14,943 
 

13,937 

Cash at bank and in hand 
  

32 
 

1,631 
 

987 
 

1,313 
 

790 

     
46,281 

 
44,689 

 
50,733 

 
45,796 

            Less: Creditors: amounts falling 
          due within one year 
 

21 
 

57,179 
 

57,181 
 

55,705 
 

55,714 

Net current liabilities 
   

(10,898) 
 

(12,492) 
 

(4,972) 
 

(9,918) 
            
Net current liabilities excluding 
debtors over one year 

    
(19,398) 

 
(20,992) 

 
(13,472) 

 
(18,418) 

 
Total assets less current liabilities 

   
605,663 

 
598,959 

 
596,756 

 
586,524 

            Less: Creditors: amounts falling 
          due after more than one year 
 

22 
 

74,104 
 

74,104 
 

65,657 
 

65,657 

Less: Provision for liabilities and charges 
 

23 
 

4,260 
 

4,260 
 

4,260 
 

4,260 

Total net assets excluding pension liability 
   

527,299 
 

520,595 
 

526,839 
 

516,607 

Net pension liability 
  

36  
 

(29,833) 
 

(29,833) 
 

(27,205) 
 

(27,205) 

Total net assets including pension liability 
   

497,466 
 

490,762 
 

499,634 
 

489,402 

            

Balance Sheets

as at 31 July 2015
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     Consolidated University  Consolidated University 

   Note  2015  2015  2014  2014 
     £000  £000  £000  £000 

 
Deferred capital grants 

  
24 

 
130,000 

 
130,000 

 
131,736 

 
131,736 

            Endowments 
           

            Permanent 
  

25 
 

37,994 
 

37,994 
 

35,024 
 

35,024 

            Reserves 
           

            Income and expenditure account                                                                  
           excluding pension reserve 
    

123,842 
 

123,033 
 

119,964 
 

115,953 

Pension reserve 
  

36 
 

(29,833) 
 

(29,833) 
 

(27,205) 
 

(27,205) 

Income and expenditure account 
           including pension reserve 
  

26 
 

94,009 
 

93,200 
 

92,759 
 

88,748 

Revaluation reserve 
  

26 
 

235,463 
 

229,568 
 

240,115 
 

233,894 

     
329,472 

 
322,768 

 
332,874 

 
322,642 

            Total funds 
    

497,466 
 

490,762 
 

499,634 
 

489,402 

             
The Accounts set out on pages 24 to 56 were approved by the University Court on 8 December 2015 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Professor Sir Ian Diamond FBA FRSE FAcSS  
Principal and Vice-Chancellor 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sir Moir Lockhead 
Senior Governor of the University Court  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
David Beattie  
Director of Finance 
 
 

Balance Sheets

as at 31 July 2015 – continued



28 • Accounts • University of Aberdeen

 

 

 

 

            

            2015          2014 

              Note   £000          £000 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Net cash inflow from operating activities 

   

              27 

 

4,241  

 

10,384 

Returns on investments and servicing of finance 

     

28 

 

(1,514)  

 

(1,385) 

Capital expenditure and financial investment 

     

29 

 

(20,297)  

 

(26,092) 

Management of liquid resources 

      

30 

 

8,766  

 

16,114 

Financing 

      

31 

 

8,447  

 

(1,795) 

Decrease in cash in the year 

     

32 

 

(357)  

 

(2,774) 

            

            Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net borrowings 

      Decrease in cash in the year 

     

32 

 

(357)  

 

(2,774) 

Sale of short term deposits 

      

32 

 

(8,766)  

 

(16,114) 

New loan 

      

32 

 

(10,400)  

 

- 

Repayment of loan         96  - 

Amortisation of finance leases 

      

32 

 

1,857  

 

1,795 

Movement in net borrowings in year 

        

(17,570)  

 

(17,093) 

Net borrowings at 1 August 2014 

      

32 

 

(47,777)  

 

(30,684) 

Net borrowings at 31 July 2015 

      

32 

 

(65,347) 

 

(47,777) 

            

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Year ended 31 July 2015
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies and Estimation Techniques

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP): Accounting for Further

and Higher Education (2007) and in accordance with applicable Accounting Standards. Charities registered with the Office of the Scottish

Charity Regulator (“OSCR”) fall within the statutory remit of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and, in respect of

financial statements preparation, the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended). Regulation 14 of the 2006 Regulations

allows universities to prepare their financial statements in accordance with the SORP. The financial statements are prepared in accordance

with the historical cost conventions modified by the revaluation of certain fixed assets.

The financial position and strategy of the University, including details of its long term borrowing facilities and their financial covenant, are

set out in the Operating and Financial Review on pages 8 to 13. The financial statements continue to be prepared on a going concern basis

as the University Court considers that the University has adequate financial resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable

future. 

Estimation techniques

The preparation of financial statements requires management, on behalf of Court, to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

financial statements during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates are used principally when

accounting for provisions for doubtful debts and provisions for liabilities and charges.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the University and its subsidiaries for the year to 31 July 2015. The results of subsidiaries acquired

or disposed of during the period are included in the consolidated income and expenditure account from the date of acquisition or up to the

date of disposal. Intra-group sales and profits are eliminated fully on consolidation. A list of subsidiary undertakings is included in note 38. 

Accounting for business combinations

The University merged with the Rowett Research Institute on 1 July 2008. The merger was accounted for by the “acquisition method of

accounting” in order to comply with the requirements of FRS 6, Acquisitions and Mergers. The benefit arising as a consequence of no

consideration having been paid by the University for the net value of the assets acquired, is included in the consolidated balance sheet as

a deduction from tangible and intangible assets. The fair value was calculated by attributing values to the separate categories of asset and

liability, with the benefit arising in relation to non-monetary assets released to the income and expenditure account over the periods in

which the non-monetary assets are recovered, whether through depreciation or disposals. The release is aligned with the corresponding

depreciation charge relating to the assets. The fair value of the benefit arising in relation to monetary assets acquired for nil consideration

is released to the income and expenditure account over the period in which the University is expected to benefit. Management have

identified the period 2008-2018 as the best estimate of the period in which the benefit of the monetary assets will be received.

Funding Council grants

Funding Council grants are accounted for on an accruals basis in the period to which they relate.

Tuition fees

Tuition fees for each academic year are recognised in the financial year to which the fees relate and are shown net of any discount offered.

The fee elements of bursaries and scholarships are accounted for gross as expenditure and not deducted from income.  

Research grants and contracts

Income from Research Grants and Contracts is accounted for on an accruals basis and recognised as income to the extent of the expenditure

incurred during the year together with any related contributions to infrastructure costs.

Other income

Income from the sales of goods and services is credited to the Income and Expenditure account when the goods or services have been

supplied to the customer or the terms of the contract have been satisfied.
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies and Estimation Techniques – continued

Charitable Donations

Income from general donations is recognised on receipt or when there is certainty of a future receipt and the value can be measured reliably.

Donations with no substantial restrictions are recognised as income in the Income and Expenditure account. Donations which are to be

retained for the future benefit of the University and other donations with restricted purposes, apart from the acquisition of tangible fixed

assets, are recognised in the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses as new endowments.

Endowment and investment income

Endowment and investment income is recognised in the financial year in which it is receivable. Any unspent income is retained as accumulated

income and disclosed in the Balance Sheet.

Acquisition with the aid of specific grants

Grants received for the acquisition of fixed assets, are treated as deferred capital grants and released to income over the expected useful

economic life of the related asset.

Leases

Where leasing agreements for assets give rights approximating to ownership (finance leases), the assets are treated as if they had been

purchased outright. The amount capitalised is the present value of the minimum lease payments payable during the lease term. The

corresponding lease commitments are shown as obligations to the lessor. Lease payments are split between capital and interest elements

using the annuity method. Depreciation on the assets and interest is charged to the Income and Expenditure account.

Rental costs under operating leases are charged to expenditure in equal amounts over the period of the lease.

Land and Buildings

Land and buildings are stated at cost or valuation. The basis of valuation is depreciated replacement cost as set out in the Royal Institute of

Chartered Surveyors’ Statement of Asset Valuation Practice and Guidance Notes. 

Certain properties are held for rental to staff and students on an arm’s length basis. As these properties are held for investment rather than

for operational purposes they have not been depreciated, but have been treated as investment properties under SAAP 19 and are valued

annually on an open market basis.

The University performs impairment reviews of assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may

not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised when the recoverable amount of an asset, which is the higher of the asset’s net realisable

value or its value in use, is less than its carrying amount. 

Costs incurred in relation to a tangible fixed asset after its initial purchase or construction are capitalised to the extent that they increase

the expected future benefits to the University. The cost of any such enhancement is added to the gross carrying amount of the tangible

fixed asset concerned.

Equipment

Equipment, including computers and software, and furniture costing less than £20,000 per individual item or group of related items, is

written off in the year of purchase. All other items are capitalised. Assets acquired under finance leases are included in fixed assets and the

capital element of the leasing commitment is shown as a liability. 

Depreciation

Heritable land is not depreciated. Buildings are depreciated over the expected useful economic life to the University, normally between 30 and

50 years. Where material, a depreciable asset’s anticipated useful life is reviewed annually and the accumulated and future depreciation adjusted

in accordance with FRS 15.
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies and Estimation Techniques – continued

Depreciation on tangible fixed assets is only provided when the assets are first brought into operational use. Where equipment is acquired with

funding from a specific grant it is depreciated over the life of the research grant. In accordance with SSAP 19, no depreciation is provided for on

investment properties. 

The methodology applied in arriving at the depreciation of buildings is a continuation of the approach adopted in the depreciated replacement

cost (DRC) valuation. In essence, a series of DRC valuations are undertaken. The successive year’s valuation is deducted from previous year’s to

arrive at the intervening period depreciation figure.

Depreciation is provided on the value of equipment, including IT equipment and software on a straight line basis, normally between 2 – 10 years.

OneSource, the University’s new integrated corporate system, is depreciated over 15 years on a straight line basis.

Heritage Assets

The University holds a number of collections, exhibits, artefacts, and other assets of historical, artistic or scientific importance. In accordance

with FRS 15 and FRS 30 (Heritage Assets), heritage assets acquired before 31 July 2011 have not been capitalised, since reliable estimates of cost

or value are not available on a cost-benefit basis. Acquisitions from 1 August 2011 are capitalised at cost or, in the case of donated assets, will be

valued, where the cost of obtaining value is not greater than the benefit to the user of the financial statements. In line with the accounting

policy in respect of equipment, the threshold for capitalising heritage assets is £20,000. Heritage assets that are irreplaceable originals and for

which no reliable value can be attributed, will not be capitalised. Heritage assets are not depreciated since their long economic life and high

residual value mean that any depreciation would not be material.

Repairs and maintenance

Expenditure to ensure that a tangible fixed asset maintains its previously recognised standard of performance is recognised in the Income and

Expenditure account in the period in which it is incurred. The University has a planned maintenance programme, which is reviewed on an annual basis.

Investments

Listed investments, including spin out companies that the University has an interest in, held as fixed assets or endowment assets, are shown at

market value. Investments in subsidiary undertakings are shown at cost and investments in joint ventures are shown in the consolidated balance

sheet as the attributable share of net assets. The University's share of any surplus or deficit in respect of Joint Ventures is recognised in the

income and expenditure account.

Stocks

Stocks, including work in progress, are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Where necessary, provision is made for obsolete,

slow-moving and defective stocks.

Taxation

The University is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 2010 and therefore it meets the definition of

a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes. Accordingly, the University is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or

capital gains received within categories covered by Chapter 3 Part 11 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable

Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable purposes. Subsidiary companies are liable to

corporation tax.

The University receives no similar exemption in respect of Value Added Tax. Irrecoverable VAT on inputs is included in the costs of such inputs.

Any irrecoverable VAT in respect of tangible fixed assets is included in their cost.

Current Asset Investments

Current asset investments represent short term deposits not available on demand.

Cash flows and liquid resources

Cash includes cash in hand, cash at bank, and deposits repayable on demand. Deposits are repayable on demand if they are in practice available within

24 hours without penalty. No investments, however liquid, are included as cash. 
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies and Estimation Techniques – continued

Liquid resources include term deposits, government securities and loan stock held as part of the University’s treasury management activities. They

exclude any such assets held as endowment asset investments. 

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the rate of exchange at the dates of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies

are translated into sterling at financial year end rates.

Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions are recognised in the financial statements when the University has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is

probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the

obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is discounted to present value where the time value of money is material. The discount rate used

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and reflects any risks specific to the liability.

Contingent liabilities are disclosed by way of a note, where the definition of a provision is not met and includes three scenarios; possible rather than a

present obligation; a possible rather than a probable outflow of economic benefits; an inability to reliably measure the possible economic outflow.

Contingent assets are disclosed by way of a note, where there is a possible, rather than present asset arising from a past event.

Pension schemes 

The principal schemes for the University’s staff are the Universities’ Superannuation Scheme (USS) and the University of Aberdeen Superannuation &

Life Assurance Scheme (UASLAS). The University also contributes to the Strathclyde Pension Fund (SPF). All three are defined benefit schemes which are

externally funded and contracted out of the State Earnings Related Pension Scheme. Each fund is valued every three years by professionally qualified

independent actuaries. A small number of staff remain in other pension schemes.

Pension costs for UASLAS and the SPF are assessed using the latest actuarial valuation and are accounted for on the basis of FRS 17 “Retirement Benefits”.

For SPF, this treatment is possible as each institution’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities can be identified. UASLAS assets are included at

market value and the schemes liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method. These liabilities are discounted at the

current rate of return on AA rated corporate bonds. The post-retirement benefit surplus or deficit is included on the University’s balance sheet. Surpluses

are only included to the extent that they are recoverable through reduced contributions in the future or through refunds from the schemes. The current

service cost and any past service costs is included in the Income and Expenditure account within operating expenses The expected return on the

schemes’ assets, net of the impact of unwinding of the discount on scheme liabilities, is included within other finance income. Actuarial gains and losses,

including differences between the expected and actual return on scheme assets, are recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses. 

The institution participates in the USS, a defined benefit scheme. The assets of the scheme are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. Because

of the mutual nature of the scheme, the scheme’s assets are not hypothecated to individual institutions and a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The

institution is therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with other institutions’ employees and is unable to identify its share of the underlying

assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore, as required by FRS 17,  accounts for the scheme as if it were a

defined contribution scheme. As a result, the amount charged to the income and expenditure account represents the contributions payable to the

scheme in respect of the accounting period. With the implementation of FRS 102 the University will be required to report its share of the deficit on its

Balance Sheet.

New accounting standards and interpretations not yet adopted

The University will be required to present its financial statements under FRS 102 for the year ended 31 July 2016. FRS 102 is a single set of accounting

standards developed by the UK Financial Reporting Council (FRC) and replaces current UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice. A revised SORP for

Accounting for Further and Higher Education, consistent with the requirements of FRS 102, was published in March 2014 and will be effective for the

year ended 31 July 2016.

The University has completed its assessment of the potential impact on financial reporting of FRS102 and the revised SORP and is finalising its choice

of accounting policies. The significant areas of impact for FRS102 relate to the income recognition for government capital grants and the recognition of

the USS pension deficit on the University's balance sheet.  Other changes may have an effect with first time adoption, for example the recognition of

the holiday accrual, but are not expected to be material in the future.



Notes to the Financial Statements

Year ended 31 July 2015

 

 

 

 

            

         2015  2014 

         £000  £000 

 

1. Funding  Grants 

           

            SFC general funding - teaching 

        

47,651 

 

48,712 

SFC general funding - research 

        

25,255 

 

25,258 

Strategic research development grant 

       

3,890 

 

5,035 

Released from deferred capital grants 

       

3,188 

 

2,474 

Other SFC grants 

        

293 

 

55 

         

80,277 

 

81,534 

            2. Tuition Fees and Educational Contracts 

        

            UK and EU fees 

        

21,320 

 

22,177 

RUK fees 

        

7,114 

 

4,482 

Non-EU fees 

        

22,377 

 

19,462 

Non-credit bearing course fees 

        

931 

 

1,487 

Educational contracts 

        

- 

 

170 

Other contracts 

        

328 

 

205 

         

52,070 

 

47,983 

            

3. Research Grants and Contracts 

          

            Research councils 

        

13,800 

 

16,220 

UK based charities 

        

10,001 

 

9,031 

UK central government, health and hospital authorities 

     

19,129 

 

21,348 

UK industry, commerce and public corporations 

       

3,946 

 

4,992 

EU government bodies 

        

5,716 

 

6,461 

EU other 

        

900 

 

1,438 

Other overseas 

        

7,590 

 

6,111 

Other sources 

        

1,762 

 

444 

         

62,844 

 

66,045 

            Included above are deferred capital grants released in the year 

    

1,395 

 

1,298 
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Notes to the Financial Statements – continued

Year ended 31 July 2015

 

 

 

            

         2015  2014 

         £000  £000 

 

4. Other Income 

           

            Residences, catering and conferences 

       

15,865 

 

14,141 

Consultancy 

        

5,791 

 

9,604 

Health uthorities 

        

5,959 

 

3,489 

VAT ecovery 

        

1,064 

 

902 

Other rants, onations & ncome 

       

9,754 

 

6,436 

Released from deferred capital grants 

       

1,794 

 

1,122 

Income from joint venture 

        

3,150 

 

2,422 

Benefit on acquisition of Rowett Research Institute - release to income (note 14) 

   

307 

 

407 

         

43,684 

 

38,523 

            5. Endowment and Investment Income 

          

            Income from endowments (note 25) 

     

750 

 

613 

Income from short-term investments        88  223 

Income from short-term investments (note 36) 

       

111 

 

- 

         

949 

 

836 

             

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Notes to the Financial Statements – continued

Year ended 31 July 2015

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
          

            
         2015  2014 
         £000  £000 

 
6. Staff Costs 

           

            Salaries 
        

108,870 
 

105,338 

Social security costs 
        

9,418 
 

8,857 

Pension costs 
        

24,524 
 

23,862 

Early retirement/severance costs 
        

3,481 
 

26 

         
146,293 

 
138,083 

  
          

Emoluments of the 

There was 3 payments for compensation for loss of office exceeding £100,000 during the year (2014: nil). Compensation arrangements applied 
to 8 senior members of staff (2014: nil) earning in excess of £70,000. 

Principal and Vice-Chancellor: 

             Salary  

   
272 

 
266 

   Pension contributions to USS     

   
44 

 
43 

   Total      

   
316 

 
309 

 

     

      

            
contributions: 
Remuneration of other higher paid staff, excluding salary sacrifice and employer's pension 

The Principal attained the eligibility to receive a bonus, but agreed that the bonus be waived for the year.

 
Number 

 
Number 

                  £70,000 - £79,999 
        

67 
 

73 
      £80,000 - £89,999 

        
34 

 
39 

      £90,000 - £99,999 
        

34 
 

30 
      £100,000 - £109,999 

        
36 

 
33 

      £110,000 - £119,999 
        

16 
 

16 
      £120,000 - £129,999 

        
12 

 
12 

      £130,000 - £139,999 
        

3 
 

2 
      £140,000 - £149,999 

        
3 

 
3 

      £150,000 - £159,999 
        

1 
 

1 
      £210,000 - £219,999 

        
- 

 
1 

            Average staff numbers by activity 
      

            Academic departments 
        

1,409 
 

1,409 

Academic services 
        

297 
 

274 

Administration and central services 
       

422 
 

406 

Premises 
        

210 
 

206 

Residences, catering and conferences 
       

250 
 

248 

Research grants and contracts 
        

625 
 

631 

Other expenses 
        

181 
 

186 

         
3,394 

 
3,360 
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Notes to the Financial Statements – continued

Year ended 31 July 2015

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

            
         2015  2014 
         £000  £000 

 
6. Staff Costs - continued 

           

            Staff costs by activity 
           

            Academic departments 
        

71,171 
 

68,522 

Academic services 
        

10,469 
 

10,248 

Administration and central services 
       

15,473 
 

14,187 

Premises 
        

5,512 
 

5,029 

Residences, catering and conferences 
       

4,141 
 

4,143 

Research grants and contracts 
        

28,027 
 

28,050 

Other expenses 
        

7,858 
 

7,686 

FRS 17 current service cost adjustment (note 36) 
   

161 
 

192 

         
142,812 

 
138,057 

Early retirement/severance costs 
        

3,481 
 

26 

         
146,293 

 
138,083 

            7. Other operating expenses by activity 
          

            Academic departments 
        

16,126 
 

16,077 

Academic services 
        

5,772 
 

5,820 

Administration and central services 
       

11,746 
 

9,914 

Premises 
        

10,380 
 

8,951 

Residences, catering and conferences 
       

6,091 
 

4,200 

Research grants and contracts 
        

19,526 
 

24,349 

Other expenses 
        

6,603 
 

7,955 

         
76,244 

 
77,266 

            Consolidated 
           Other operating expenses (including VAT) include: 

             External auditors remuneration in respect of audit services 
     

48 
 

59  
   External auditors remuneration in respect of non-audit services 

     
224 

 
89 

   Internal auditors remuneration in respect of audit services 
     

106 
 

79  
   Internal auditors remuneration in respect of non-audit services 

     
7 

 
5   

         
 

  University 
        

 
  Other operating expenses (including VAT) include:

       
 

     External auditors remuneration in respect of audit services 
     

46 
 

55 
   External auditors remuneration in respect of non-audit services 

     
224 

 
89 

   Internal auditors remuneration in respect of audit services 
     

100 
 

79  
   Internal auditors remuneration in respect of non-audit services 

     
7  

 
5 

             
 
 
 

Non-audit services performed by the external auditors principally comprise tax compliance and advice, together with advisory work relating
to the University’s digital strategy. No advisory work undertaken related to financial reporting systems or processes.
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Year ended 31 July 2015

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

            
         2015  2014 
         £000  £000 

 
8. Depreciation by activity 

           

            Academic departments 
        

2,568 
 

2,723 

Academic services 
        

2,639 
 

2,289 

Administration and central services 
       

66 
 

117  

Premises 
        

7,136 
 

8,578 

Residences, catering and conferences 
       

3,496 
 

3,316 

Research grants and contracts 
        

1,405 
 

1,308 

Other expenses 
        

707 
 

727 

         
18,017 

 
19,058 

 
9. Interest and other finance costs 

          

            Loan interest (note 28) 
        

1,228 
 

994  

Finance leases (note 28) 
        

1,124   
 

1,227   

Interest on pension scheme liabilities (note 36) 
       

- 
 

314 

         
2,352 

 
2,535 

            10. Analysis of total expenditure by activity 
          

            Academic departments 
        

89,865 
 

87,322 

Academic services 
        

18,880 
 

18,357 

Administration and central services 
       

27,285 
 

24,218 

Premises 
        

24,256 
 

23,552 

Residences, catering and conferences 
       

14,852 
 

12,886 

Research grants and contracts 
        

48,958 
 

53,707 

Other expenses 
        

15,168 
 

16,682 

FRS 17 current service cost adjustment (note 36) 
      

161 
 

192   

Early retirement/severance costs 
        

3,481 
 

26 

         
242,906 

 
236,942 

            11. Disposal of fixed asset investments 
        

            Gain on disposal of investments 
        

2,580 
 

3,873 

Gain on disposal of properties 
        

1,760 
 

3,991  

         
4,340 

 
7,864 

 

12. (Deficit)/Surplus on continuing operations for the year 
        

            The (deficit)/surplus on continuing operations for the year is made up as follows: 
      University surplus for the year 

       
847 

 
1,500 

Subsidiary undertakings (deficit)/surplus for the year 
     

(3,353) 
 

1,789 

         
(2,506) 

 
3,289 
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Notes to the Financial Statements – continued

Year ended 31 July 2015

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

  

       

            
 Freehold  Assets in      Fixtures,   

 Land and  Course of  Investment  Heritage  Fittings and   
 Buildings  Construction Properties  Assets  Equipment  Total 
 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

 
13. Tangible assets 

           
            Consolidated 

           

            Cost or Valuation 
           At 1 August 2014 479,277 

 
22,126 

 
44,460 

 
442  

 
50,436 

 
596,741 

Additions 2,579  20,660  239                     -  6,451  29,929 

Completed/Change in use 1,683  (2,059)  376  (165)  165                     - 
Valuation of  investment 
properties                    -                     -  381                     -                     -  381 
Valuation of  other 
properties (602)                     -                     -                     -                     -  (602) 

Disposals                    -                     -  (500)    (2,159)  (2,659) 

At 31 July 2015 482,937  40,727  44,956  277  54,893  623,790 

            Depreciation 
           At 1 August 2014                    - 

 
                   - 

 
                   - 

 
                   - 

 
35,340 

 
35,340 

Charge for the year 12,505 
 

                   - 
 

                   - 
 

                   - 
 

5,512  18,017 
Revaluation (43) 

 
                   - 

 
                   - 

 
                   - 

 
                   - 

 
(43) 

Impairment  732                     -                     -                     -                     -  732 
Eliminated in respect of 
disposals                    -    

 
                   -    

 
                   -    

 
                   -    

 
(2,355)  (2,355) 

At 31 July 2015 13,194 
 

                  - 
 

                  - 
 

                  - 
 

38,497  51,691 

            Net Book Value 
              At 31 July 2015 469,743 

 
40,727 

 
44,956 

 
277 

 
16,396 

 
572,099 

               At 31 July 2014 479,277 
 

22,126 
 

44,460 
 

442  
 

15,096 
 

561,401 

             
                       

                     
                     
  

  
T                    

                     
                  

 
                     

                
                        

                     
               

 
 
 
 
 

The latest full valuation was carried out on 31 July 2014 and was performed by Mr A Donaldson, BLE, MRICS, Director of Estates, University

of Aberdeen. The basis of valuation is depreciated replacement cost as set out in the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyor’s Statement of

Asset Valuation Practice and Guidance Notes. The 31 July 2014 valuation was externally reviewed by J & E Shepherd, Chartered Surveyors.

The University owns academic, academic related and recreational buildings which are located in Old Aberdeen, at Foresterhill, part of

Marischal College and various Hall of Residence complexes. Part of the Hillhead Halls of residence complex is held under a finance lease,

the net book value of assets held under finance leases by the University is £29.4m (2014 £30.7m).

The land and buildings net book value at 31 July 2015 includes £45.0m (University £37.4m) in respect of investment properties. In accordance

with the provisions of Accounting Standard SSAP 19 “Accounting for Investment Properties”, investment properties are revalued on an annual

basis. This was carried out on 31 July 2015 and was performed by Mr A Donaldson, BLE, MRICS, Director of Estates, University of Aberdeen.

Should any land and buildings financed by Funding Council funds be sold, the University may be liable, under the terms of the Financial

Memorandum with the Funding Council, to repay the proceeds.
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 Freehold  Assets in      Fixtures,   

 Land and  Course of  Investment  Heritage  Fittings and   
 Buildings  Construction Properties  Assets  Equipment  Total 
 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

 
 

13. Tangible assets - continued 
          

            University 
           

            Cost or Valuation 
           

At 1 August 2014 470,599  
 

22,126 
 

36,987  
 

                               
442  

 
50,008 

 
580,162 

Additions 2,579 
 

20,660 
 

239 
 

                  - 
 

6,451 
 

29,929 

Completed/change in use 1,912 
 

(2,059) 
 

147 
 

(165) 
 

165 
 

                  - 
Valuation of  investment 
properties -                    -  556                    -                    -  556 

Valuation of other properties (602)                    -                    -                    -                    -  (602) 

Disposals -                    -  (500)                    -  (1,731)  (2,231) 

At 31 July 2015 474,488 
 

40,727 
 

37,429 
 

277 
 

54,893 
 

607,814 

            Depreciation 
              At 1 August 2014 - 

 
                  - 

 
                  - 

 
                  - 

 
34,716 

 
34,716 

   Charge for the year 12,047 
 

                  - 
 

                  - 
 

                  - 
 

5,512 
 

17,559 

   Revaluation (43) 
 

                  - 
 

                  - 
 

                  - 
 

                  - 
 

(43) 

   Impairment 732                    -                    -                    -                    -  732 

   Eliminated on disposal            -  
 

                 -  
 

                 -  
 

                 -  
 

(1,731) 
 

(1,731) 

   At 31 July 2015 12,736 
 

                  - 
 

                  - 
 

                  - 
 

38,497 
 

51,233 

            Net Book Value 
              At 31 July 2015 461,752 

 
40,727 

 
37,429 

 
277 

 
16,396 

 
556,581 

               At 31 July 2014 470,599 
 

22,126 
 

36,987 
 

442  
 

15,292 
 

545,446 

             
 

                     
                    
                  

 
                      The volume of 

i                    
                

 
  

Since its foundation, the University has acquired and established a number of significant collections of heritage assets. Many of the items

contained therein are of international as well as national importance. The University’s collections have made, and continue to make, a

significant contribution to the furtherance of scholarship, promotion of innovation and the dissemination of knowledge for public benefit.

Up to 31 July 2011 the University has not capitalised any of its heritage assets in accordance with our accounting policy. The volume of items,

the elapsed time since acquisition and the information available on acquisition methods render the cost of identifying the appropriate

accounting treatment disproportionate to the benefit to be derived by users of the financial statements.

The impairment to tangible assets of £0.7m reflects the reduction in life expectancy for the Maternity Hospital due to NHS Grampian’s plan

to replace the existing facility in 2020.
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         2015  2014 

         £000  £000 
 
14. Benefits arising from the acquisition of Rowett Research Institute       

            
At 1 August         (11,011)  (11,418) 
Release of negative goodwill to income (note 4)      307  407 
At 31 July         (10,704)  (11,011) 

            
The negative goodwill relates to the acquisition of the Rowett Research Institute and, in respect of the non-monetary assets, represents the 
estimated remaining useful life of the non-monetary assets acquired. The release is, therefore, aligned with the corresponding depreciation 
charge relating to the assets.  In respect of the monetary assets acquired, the amortisation is aligned with period over which the benefit is 
expected to be received, which management have identified as being the period 2008-2018.  
 
 
            
            

     Consolidated University  Consolidated University 
     2015  2015  2014  2014 
     £000  £000  £000  £000 

 
15. Investments            

            
At 1 August     5,605  15,972  2,889  13,256 
Additions     332  332  5,496   5,496  
Donation                      -                   -                   -                   - 
Disposals         (2,536)  (2,536) 
Appreciation/(depreciation) on disposal/revaluation  572  572  (244)   (244)  
Net book value at 31 July     6,509  16,876  5,605  15,972 

            
Of which investments in joint venture                     -  10,367                   -  10,367 
Of which other investments    6,509  6,509  5,605  5,605 
     6,509  16,876 5,605 15,972 

          
The Group’s principal subsidiary undertakings are listed in note 37. 
 
The Group has participating interests in spin out entities which exceed 20% of voting rights (at cost), however there is no board control 
over the entities and significant influence is not exerted over the operating and financial policies.  As a result the investees are free to 
implement policies that are inconsistent with the investor’s strategy.  The substance of the relationship between the investor and investee 
is that of a fixed asset investment with a view to a trade sale in the medium term. Therefore, these investments are disclosed as fixed asset 
investments and are not accounted for as equity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- -

The negative goodwill relates to the acquisition of the Rowett Research Institute and, in respect of the non-monetary assets, represents

the estimated remaining useful life of the non-monetary assets acquired. The release is, therefore, aligned with the corresponding

depreciation charge relating to the assets. In respect of the monetary assets acquired, the amortisation is aligned with period over which

the benefit is expected to be received, which management have identified as being the period 2008-2018. 

The Group’s principal subsidiary undertakings are listed in note 38.

The Group has participating interests in spin out entities which exceed 20% of voting rights (at cost), however there is no board control

over the entities and significant influence is not exerted over the operating and financial policies. As a result the investees are free to

implement policies that are inconsistent with the investor’s strategy. The substance of the relationship between the investor and investee

is that of a fixed asset investment with a view to a trade sale in the medium term. Therefore, these investments are disclosed as fixed asset

investments and are not accounted for as equity. 

The negative goodwill relates to the acquisition of the Rowett Research Institute and, in respect of the non-monetary assets, represents

the estimated remaining useful life of the non-monetary assets acquired. The release is, therefore, aligned with the corresponding

depreciation charge relating to the assets. In respect of the monetary assets acquired, the amortisation is aligned with period over which

the benefit is expected to be received, which management have identified as being the period 2008-2018. 
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       2015    2014 

     £000  £000  £000  £000 

 

16. Investment in joint venture           

            

Income and expenditure account           

            

Income       3,150    2,422 

            

(Deficit) before tax       (46)    (132) 

            

Balance sheet            

            

Fixed assets     22,648    23,225   

Current assets     3,180    3,205   

       25,828    26,430 

Less: Restricted funding from SportScotland    (5,350)    (5,432) 

Share of gross assets       20,478    20,998 

Less: Creditors - amounts due with one year     (9,815)    (10,289) 

Share of net assets       10,663    10,709 

            

          

  

The University holds a 50% share of Aberdeen Sports Village Limited, a company limited by guarantee and registered as a charity. This is 

a joint venture company owned equally by the University and Aberdeen City Council. The arrangement is treated as a joint venture and is 

accounted for using the gross equity method, such that 50% of the company's gross assets and liabilities are incorporated into the 

consolidated balance sheet of the University and 50% of its net income is reported in the University's consolidated Income and 

Expenditure account.           

 
 

 

           

     Consolidated University  Consolidated University 

     2015  2015  2014  2014 

     £000  £000  £000  £000 

 

17. Endowment Assets 

           

            Balance at 1 August 

    

35,024 

 

35,024 

 

33,573 

 

33,573 

Endowments invested (note 29) 

   

238 

 

238 

 

624 

 

624 

Increase in market value of investments (note 25) 

   

3,408 

 

3,408 

 

1,219 

 

1,219 

Decrease in cash balances held for 

          endowment funds (note 32) 

   

(676) 

 

(676) 

 

(392) 

 

(392) 

Balance at 31 July 

    

37,994 

 

37,994 

 

35,024 

 

35,024 

            Represented by 

           Securities 

    

37,045 

 

37,045 

 

33,400 

 

33,400 

Cash at bank held for endowment funds 

   

949 

 

949 

 

1,624 

 

1,624 

Total endowments assets 

    

37,994 

 

37,994 

 

35,024 

 

35,024 

            18. Stock 

           

            Stocks of finished goods 

    

289 

 

289 

 

339 

 

337 

            

The University holds a 50% share of Aberdeen Sports Village Limited, a company limited by guarantee and registered as a charity. This is a

joint venture company owned equally by the University and Aberdeen City Council. The arrangement is treated as a joint venture and is

accounted for using the gross equity method, such that 50% of the company's gross assets and liabilities are incorporated into 

the consolidated balance sheet of the University and 50% of its net income is reported in the University's consolidated Income and

Expenditure account.
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19. Debtors

Trade debtors 8,553 8,553 11,448 7,872 
Amounts due from joint venture 8,500 8,500 8,500 8,500 

Prepayments and accrued income 21,131 21,131 14,190 14,190 
Amounts due from subsidiary companies 

Amounts due from Joint Venture are receivable after more than one year and are expected to be capitalised during year ended 31 July 2016.

- 60 - 170

38,184 38,244 34,138 30,732 

20. Investments 

Deposits maturing: 

In one year or less 6,177 5,169 14,943 13,937 

21. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

Research grants received on account 24,796 24,796 26,340 26,340 
Other grants received on account 12,392 12,392 8,598 8,598
Trade creditors 3,518 3,518 7,439 7,439 
Amounts due to subsidiary companies - 29 - 29
Social security and other taxation payable 3,583 3,583 5,530 5,530 
Accruals and deferred income 12,890 12,863 7,798 7,778 

57,179 57,181 55,705 55,714

 

 

 

 

 

 

          

  

T                        

                       

                     

                    

            

 
        

 Consolidated University  Consolidated University 

 2015  2015  2014  2014 

 £000  £000  £000  £000 
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     Consolidated University  Consolidated University 
     2015  2015  2014  2014 
     £000  £000  £000  £000 

 
22. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year       
            
Loans (note 22 a)    40,304  40,304  30,000  30,000 
Finance lease obligations (note 22 b)    33,800  33,800  35,657  35,657 

     74,104  74,104  65,657  65,657 
            

   a. Loans are repayable:            
      In five years or more      40,304  40,304  30,000  30,000 

     40,304  40,304  30,000  30,000 
            

   b. Finance lease net obligations committed:          
In two to five years     3,963  3,963  4,635  4,635 

   In five years or more     29,837  29,837  31,022  31,022 
     33,800  33,800  35,657  35,657 
            

 
                      

                    
                     

              
 

                       
                    

                  
 

                       
                    

 
                     

                   is payable in more than five 
y                     

                  
 

 
    
        
        
            

 
    

          
A            60  4,260 
A                         -                   -                   - 

     60  4,260 

          
 

                      
                   

                  
                      

 
 
 

22a The University has the following fixed interest loans with Barclays Bank PLC. £4.6m 25-year loan at 5.415%, a £15m 24-year loan at 3.195%,

a £10m 22-year loan at 3.07% and a £10.4m 22-year loan at 3.2%. In addition Barclays Bank Plc, has been given security over Adam Smith,

Fyfe and Wavell Halls in order to comply with the financial covenants within the loan facility and a matching security in relation to new

Carnegie Court. 

The University also has interest free loans totalling £304k from Salix Finance Ltd which will be repaid over 4 years from 2014/15. 

22b The University has entered into a leasing arrangement with British Linen Leasing Ltd, in respect of two halls of residence over a period

of 25 years. £4.0m is payable in less than five years under this agreement which expires in 2018. 

In December 2012 the University entered into a finance leasing arrangement with Prudential Ltd, in respect of the New Carnegie Court

Halls of Residence (previously owned and built by Unite Plc) over a period of 25 years. £29.8m is payable in more than five years under

this agreement which expires in 2037. As part of the finance leasing arrangement, Prudential Retirement Income Ltd has security over

the New Carnegie Court Halls of Residence for the first 5 years of the lease. 

The University has an obligation in respect of former employees who have retired and for whom an enhanced pension has been provided.

This liability is assessed by independent actuarial valuation (see note 36) and continues throughout the retirement period. The University

has an obligation under Scottish Environment Protection Agency regulations to provide for the removal of “High Activity Sealed Sources”

held within the Institute of Medical Sciences Building. It is expected that these sources will be removed within the next 10-15 years.

 

 

 

 

 

 

                      

                    

                     

              

 

                       

                    

                  

 

                       

                    

 

                     

                   is payable in more than five 

y                     

                  

 

 
       Consolidated and University 
       Enhanced  Waste   
       Pensions  Disposal  Total 
       £000  £000  £000 

 
23. Provisions for Liabilities and Charges         

            

At 1 August 2014       4,200  60  4,260 

Actuarial liability adjustment                       -                   -                   - 

At 31 July 2015       4,200  60  4,260 
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Consolidated and University 
Funding 
Council Other Total 

£000 £000 £000

24. Deferred Capital Grants 

At 1 August 2014 
Land and buildings 93,259 32,370 125,629 
Equipment 2,933 3,174 6,107 
Total 96,192 35,544 131,736

Cash received 
Land and buildings 2,388 607 2,995 
Equipment 874 900 1,774 
Total 3,262 1,507 4,769 

Transferred to creditors 
Land and buildings 129 129
Total 129 129

Released to income and expenditure 
Land and buildings 2,596 1,705 4,301 
Equipment 592 1,483 2,075 
Total 3,188 3,188 6,376 

At 31 July 2015 
Land and buildings 93,051 31,143 124,194 
Equipment 3,215 2,591 5,806 
Total 96,266 33,734 130,000 

Consolidated and University
2015 2014 

Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 
Permanent Permanent Permanent Permanent 

£000 £000 £000 £000

25. Endowments 

Balance at 1 August 
Capital 12,473  17,441  29,914  28,734  
Accumulated income - 5,110  5,110  4,839

12,473 22,551  35,024  33,573  

New endowments - 117 117 269  

Investment income 272 478 750 613
Expenditure (272) (1,033) (1,305) (650) 
Net expenditure - (555) (555) (37) 

Increase in market value of investments 1,203 2,205 3,408  1,219  
At 31 July 13,676 24,318  37,994  35,024  

Represented by:  
Capital 13,676 19,600  33,276  29,914  
Accumulated income - 4,718 4,718 5,110 

13,676  24,318  37,994  35,024  
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     Consolidated University  Consolidated University 

     2015  2015  2014  2014 

     £000  £000  £000  £000 

 

26. Reserves 

           

            Income and expenditure reserve 

          

            At 1 August  

    

92,759  

 

88,748 

 

82,408 

 

82,037 

(Deficit)/surplus retained for year 

   

(1,951) 

 

1,402 

 

3,326 

 

1,537 

Transfer from revaluation reserve 

   

5,779 

 

5,628 

 

8,138 

 

6,287 

Actuarial (loss) on pension scheme 

   

(2,578) 

 

(2,578) 

 

(1,113) 

 

(1,113) 

At 31 July 

    

94,009 

 

9

 

92,759 

 

88,748 

            Pension reserve 

           

            At 1 August 

    

(27,205) 

 

(27,205) 

 

(25,586) 

 

(25,586) 

Actuarial (loss) on pension scheme (note 36) 

  

(2,578) 

 

(2,578) 

 

(1,113) 

 

(1,113) 

Deficit retained within reserves 

   

(50) 

 

(50) 

 

(506) 

 

(506) 

At 31 July  

    

(29,833) 

 

(29,833) 

 

(27,205) 

 

(27,205) 

            Revaluation reserve 

           At 1 August 

              Investment properties 

    

34,168 

 

32,093 

 

29,983 

 

27,322 

   Other properties 

    

205,828 

 

201,743 

 

188,273 

 

184,037 

   Fixed asset investments 

    

119  58 

 

363 

 

302 

     

240,115 

 

233,894 

 

218,619 

 

211,661 

            Revaluation in the year 

              Investment properties 

    

1,607 

 

541 

 

4,505 

 

5,091 

   Other properties 

    

(1,785) 

 

(544) 

 

25,373 

 

23,673 

   Fixed asset investments 

    

1,305 

 

1,305 

 

(244) 

 

(244) 

     

1,127 

 

1,302 

 

29,634 

 

28,520 

            Transfer from revaluation reserve to general reserve: 

           Depreciation on revalued assets 

   

(5,280) 

 

(5,129) 

 

(6,118) 

 

(5,967) 

   Other properties - disposals 

    

                 - 

 

                 - 

 

(1,700) 

 

                 - 

   Investment properties - disposals     (499)  (499)  (320)  (320) 

            At 31 July 

              Investment properties 

    

35,276 

 

32,135 

 

34,168 

 

32,093 

   Other properties 

    

198,763 

 

196,070 

 

205,828 

 

201,743 

   Fixed asset investments 

    

1,424 

 

1,363 

 

119 

 

58 

     

235,463 

 

229,568 

 

240,115 

 

233,894 
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         2015  2014 

         £000  £000 

 
27. Reconciliation of surplus after depreciation of tangible fixed assets      

 at valuation to net cash inflow from operating activities         

            

Deficit after depreciation of tangible fixed assets at valuation and before tax (6,232)  (4,443) 

Depreciation (notes 8 & 13)         18,017  19,058 

Impairment (note 13)         732  950 

Negative goodwill release         (307)  (407) 

Deferred capital grants released to income (note 24)      (6,376)  (4,894) 

Investment income (note 5)         (949)  (836) 

Impairment of investments         732  608 

Interest payable (note 9)         2,352  2,535 

Deferred capital grant transferred to creditors (note 24) (129)                   - 

(Increase)/decrease in stock         50  (75) 

(Decrease)/increase  in debtors        (4,612)  2,365 

Increase/(decrease)  in creditors        802  (4,569) 

(Decrease) in provisions                         -  (100) 

Pension costs less contributions payable        161  192 

Net cash inflow from operating activities        4,241  10,384 

            

            

28. Returns on Investments and Servicing of Finance         

            

Income from endowments (note 5)        750  613 

Other interest received (note 5)        88  223 

Interest paid (note 9)         (2,352)  (2,221) 

Net cash outflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance  (1,514)  (1,385) 

            

29. Capital Expenditure and Financial Investment         

            

Payments to acquire tangible assets        (29,257)  (33,251) 

Payments to acquire investments        (77)  (1,526) 

Receipts from sale of tangible assets        ,   2,437 

Receipts from sale of investments                     1,829 

Endowment funds (invested)        (238)  (624) 

New endowments received         117  269 

Deferred capital grants received        4,769  4,774 

Net cash outflow from capital expenditure and financial investments    (20,297)  (26,092) 
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         2015  2014 
         £000  £000 

 
30. Management of Liquid Resources         
            
Increase/(decrease) in deposits      8,766  (16,114) 

            
31.  Financing            
            
New loan         10,400                     - 
Repayment of  loan        (96)                     - 
Amortisation of finance leases        (1,857)  (1,795) 
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing        8,447  (1,795) 

            
32. Analysis of Changes in Net Borrowing         
            
            

     1 August  Cash  Other  31 July 
     2014  Flows  Changes  2015 
     £000  £000  £000  £000 
            

Cash at bank and in hand     1,313  318                     -  1,631 
Endowment asset investments (note 17)    1,624  (675)                     -  949 

     2,937  (357)                     -  2,580 
            

Current asset investments (note 30)    14,943  (8,766)                     -  6,177 
Debts due after one year (note 22a)    (30,000)  (10,400)  96  (40,304) 
Finance lease (note 22b)     (35,657)  -  1,857  (33,800) 
Total     (47,777)  (19,523)  1,953  (65,347) 
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         2015  2014 
         £000  £000 

 
33. Capital commitments            
Provision has not been made for the following capital commitments at 31 July     

            
Commitments contracted for        6,286  20,534 
Authorised but not contracted for        16,121  18,069 

         22,407  38,603 
            

34. Amounts disbursed as agent           
            
   Childcare Undergraduate Postgraduate 2015  2014 
   Funds  Funds  Funds  Total  Total 
   £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 
            

Balance brought forward 1 August  72  14  12  98  3 
Repaid as claw back   (72)  (14)  (12)  (98)  (3) 
Allocation received in year   133  428  112  673  716 
Interest earned   1  1                   -  2  2 
Expenditure   (131)  (436)  (106)  (673)  (620) 
Transfer   (1)  7  (6)                   -                     - 
Balance as at 31 July  2                   -                   -  2  98 

            
Repayable as claw back   2                   -                   -  2  98 
Retained by University for students                   -                   -                   -                   -                   - 

   2                   -                   -  2  98 
            

 
35. Disclosure of related party transactions         

            
Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the composition of the University Court being drawn from local public and private 
sector organisations, it is inevitable that transactions will take place with organisations in which a member the University Court may have an 
interest. All transactions involving organisations in which a member of the University Court may have an interest are conducted at arm’s 
length and in accordance with the University’s financial regulations and normal procurement procedures. 

            
The following transactions were identified for the disclosure under FRS 8: Related Party Disclosures: 

            
         Receipts  Payments 
         £000  £000 

  
 

          

   Relationship   Nature of Transaction     
            
Aberdeen Sports Village Limited   Joint venture   Operation/Grant  416  1,175 

Grants/Operations Charity 4,536 1,121 
Wista Laboratories Limited 
University of Aberdeen Development Trust

  Investment   Research or Consultancy  3,132                    - 
            

An £8.5m loan to Aberdeen Sports Village Ltd was receivable at 31 July 2015 (2014: £8.5m). The loan is receivable after more than one 
year (Note 19). It is the intention to convert this loan to share capital during the course of 2015/16.

No other balances were owed to or from the above related parties at 31 July 2015 (31 July 2014: £nil). 

  
  

 
 
 
 

Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the composition of the University Court being drawn from the local public and private

sector organisations, it is inevitable that transactions will take place with organisations in which a member of the University Court may have

an interest. All transactions involving organisations in which a member of the University Court may have an interest are conducted at arm’s

length and in accordance with the University’s financial regulations and normal procurement procedures. 

The following transactions were identified for the disclosure under FRS 8: Related Party Disclosures: 



 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

            
36. Pension schemes            

            
 

The principal schemes for the University’s staff are Universities’ Superannuation Scheme (USS) and the University of Aberdeen 
Superannuation & Life Assurance Scheme (UASLAS). The University also contributes to the Strathclyde Pension Fund (SPF). All three are 
defined benefit schemes which are externally funded and contracted out of the State Earnings Related Pension Scheme. Each fund is valued 
every three years by professionally qualified independent actuaries.  A small number of staff remain in other pension schemes. 
 
Scheme participation and pension costs 
Pension Scheme Employer 

Contribution 
Rate at 
 31 July 

2015 

Employee 
Contribution 

Rate at  
31 July 2015 

Active 
Members at 

31 July 
2015 

Pension Costs 
for year to 

31 July 2015 

Pension Costs 
for year to 

31 July 2014 

Accounted for under FRS17      
      
UASLAS 17.1% 7.05% 674 3,258 3,303 
SPF 24.1% Variable 19 162 157 
      
Defined Contribution Treatment      
      
USS 16.0% 7.5% (Final) 

6.5% (CRB) 
2,148 21,435 20,624 

STSS 14.9% Variable 31 146 148 
NHSSS 14.3% Variable 9 68 65 
      
Total    25,069 24,297 
      
 
 
Key actuarial assumptions, if appropriate 
Pension Scheme 

Discount 
Rate 

 
Pensionable 

Salary 
Increase 

Rate 

Pension 
Increase 

Rate 

Mortality 
Rate 

Current 
pensioners 

male  

Mortality 
Rate 

Current 
pensioners 

female  

Mortality  
Rate 

Future 
pensioners 

male  

Mortality  
Rate 

Future 
pensioners 

female  
        
        
USS 3.3% 3.5%(1) - 24.2 26.3 26.2 28..6 
        
FRS17 assumptions        
        
UASLAS 3.6% 3.3% 3.3% 21.6 24.1 22.8 25.5 
SPF 3.5% 4.3% (2) 2.4% 22.1 23.6 24.8 26.2 
        
(1) Salary increase rate is 3.5% for the first year and 4.0% thereafter 
(2) Salary increases are assumed to be 1% p.a. until March 2015 reverting to long term assumption shown thereafter 
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36. Pension schemes – continued           

            

   

            

            

The University of Aberdeen Superannuation and Life Assurance Scheme (UASLAS) 

The University of Aberdeen Superannuation & Life Assurance Scheme is a funded defined benefit scheme which is open to new 

members and open to future accruals. A full actuarial valuation was carried out at 31 July 2013 and updated to 31 July 2015 by a 

qualified independent actuary. 

 

The power to appoint Trustees is vested in the University Court. Trustee appointments cease if the Trustee ceases to be a member of 

the Scheme or resigns from the University. The Trustee body includes an independent chairman, two membership representative 

Trustees elected by the active and pensioner members of the scheme, two officers of the University and a member of the University 

Court. The arrangements for appointing membership representatives comply with the Membership Nominated Trustee requirements 

of the Pensions Act 2004. 

 

Trustees are invited to attend Trustee meetings at which a minimum of two must be present for valid decisions to be taken. Decisions 

require the majority support of those Trustees present. Trustee meetings are normally held every three months, but can be called more 

frequently where necessary. During the year the Trustees met five times 

 

For the 31 July 2015 disclosures, we have adjusted the mortality assumption to reflect more up to date versions of the above 

assumptions. In practice we have used the S2 series tables in place of the S1 series tables and the CMI mortality projections model 

2014 in place of the CMI mortality projections model 2013. 

 

A summary of the mortality assumptions at the Measurement Date and those adopted for the 31 July 2014 FRS 17 disclosures is 

shown below.   

 

Mortality Proposed assumptions at 31 July 2015  Assumptions at 31 July 2014 

    

Base table S2PMA for males: S2PFA for females  S1PMA for males: S1PFA for females 

Adjustment to base table   110% for males: 104% for females  110% for males: 104% for females 

Projection CMI_2014; 1.25% p.a. long term rate  CMI_2013; 1.25% p.a. long term rate 

 

       

    2015  2014 

    Fund  Fund 

    Value  Value 

    £000  £000 

       

Equities    73,835  77,178 

Property    10,055                    - 

Government bonds    31,592  16,512 

Corporate bonds    4,946  16,733 

Secure pensions    804  770 

Cash    366  196 

    121,598  111,389 

       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The University of Aberdeen Superannuation and Life Assurance Scheme (UASLAS)

The University of Aberdeen Superannuation & Life Assurance Scheme is a funded defined benefit scheme which is open to new members and

open to future accruals. A full actuarial valuation was carried out at 31 July 2013 and updated to 31 July 2015 by a qualified independent actuary.

The power to appoint Trustees is vested in the University Court. Trustee appointments cease if the Trustee ceases to be a member of the

Scheme or resigns from the University. The Trustee body includes an independent chairman, two membership representative Trustees elected

by the active and pensioner members of the scheme, two officers of the University and a member of the University Court. The arrangements

for appointing membership representatives comply with the Membership Nominated Trustee requirements of the Pensions Act 2004.

Trustees are invited to attend Trustee meetings at which a minimum of two must be present for valid decisions to be taken. Decisions require

the majority support of those Trustees present. Trustee meetings are normally held every three months, but can be called more frequently

where necessary. During the year the Trustees met five times.

For the 31 July 2015 disclosures, we have adjusted the mortality assumption to reflect more up to date versions of the above assumptions. In

practice we have used the S2 series tables in place of the S1 series tables and the CMI mortality projections model 2014 in place of the CMI

mortality projections model 2013.

A summary of the mortality assumptions at the measurement date and those adopted for the 31 July 2014 FRS 17 disclosure is shown below. 
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36. Pension schemes – continued 

The Strathclyde Pension Fund (SPF)
The Strathclyde Pension Fund (SPF) provides benefits based on a final pensionable salary for employees of local government and 
some other institutions. It is now possible to identify each institution’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme and 
hence contributions to the scheme are accounted for as if they were a defined benefit scheme.

The last triennial valuation undertaken was at 31 March 2011. The employer’s contribution rate payable on members’ pensionable 
salaries will be 20.1% from 1 April 2012 until 31 March 2014. The accounting standard FRS 17 is designed to produce a net pension 
asset or liability calculated according to a prescribed method of valuation. In particular, the discount rate applied to pension scheme 
liabilities differs from that used in normal actuarial valuations to determine, inter alia, the scheme’s required funding rate, and 
generally produce a higher value for scheme liabilities. The pension costs are determined with the advice of an independent qualified 
actuary on the basis of triennial valuation using the projected unit method.

2015 2014
Fund Value Fund Value 

£000 £000

Equities 10,270 9,940 
Bonds 1,643 1,570 
Property 1,643 916
Cash 137 654

13,693 13,080 

The Scottish Teachers Superannuation Scheme (STSS)
The STSS is an unfunded defined benefit scheme. Contributions on a “pay-as-you-go” basis are credited to the Exchequer under 
arrangements governed by the Superannuation Act 1972. A notional assets value is ascribed to the scheme for the purposes of 
determining contribution rates.

Under the definitions set out in FRS 17, the STSS is a multi-employer pension scheme. The University of Aberdeen is unable to 
identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme. Accordingly, the University has taken advantage of the 
exemption in FRS 17 and has accounted for its contribution as if it were a defined contribution scheme. The scheme is subject to a 
report by the Government Actuary every five years.  

The National Health Service Superannuation Scheme (NHSSS)
NHSSS is a multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme. Historically the scheme has operated on the basis that it is responsible 
only for the cost of the basic benefits payable to members and their dependants, with the cost of pension increases being met by the 
Exchequer. However, from 1 April 2004, the cost of pension increases has been met by an increase in the employers’ contribution 
rate.

The Strathclyde Pension Fund (SPF)

The Strathclyde Pension Fund (SPF) provides benefits based on a final pensionable salary for employees of local government and some other

institutions. It is possible to identify each institution’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme and hence contributions

to the scheme are accounted for in line with FRS17.

The last triennial valuation undertaken was at 31 March 2014. The employer’s contribution rate payable on members’ pensionable salaries

was 20.1% until 31 March 2015 and 24.1% thereafter. The accounting standard FRS 17 is designed to produce a net pension asset or liability

calculated according to a prescribed method of valuation. In particular, the discount rate applied to pension scheme liabilities differs from

that used in normal actuarial valuations to determine, inter alia, the scheme’s required funding rate, and generally produce a higher value for

scheme liabilities. The pension costs are determined with the advice of an independent qualified actuary on the basis of triennial valuation

using the projected unit method.

The Scottish Teachers Superannuation Scheme (STSS)

The STSS is an unfunded defined benefit scheme. Contributions on a “pay-as-you-go” basis are credited to the Exchequer under arrangements

governed by the Superannuation Act 1972. A notional asset value is ascribed to the scheme for the purposes of determining contribution

rates.

Under the definitions set out in FRS 17, the STSS is a multi-employer pension scheme. The University of Aberdeen is unable to identify its

share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme. Accordingly, the University has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 17 and

has accounted for its contribution as if it were a defined contribution scheme. The scheme is subject to a report by the Government Actuary

every five years. 

The National Health Service Superannuation Scheme (NHSSS)

NHSSS is a multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme. Historically the scheme has operated on the basis that it is responsible only

for the cost of the basic benefits payable to members and their dependants, with the cost of pension increases being met by the Exchequer.

However, from 1 April 2004, the cost of pension increases has been met by an increase in the employers’ contribution rate.
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36. Pension schemes – continued           

            

       

 

     

                   

                    

                  

         In 2015 the percentage was 16% (2014 16%).  The University is unable to identify 

i                        

                The amounts of £21.4m charged to the 

I                    

 

 

                     

                       

           

 

                    

                    

                       

                     

             

 

                      

             

 

       

 

    S1NA [“light”] YoB tables – No age rating 

F              

 

                    

                        

                         

             

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS)

The University participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), a defined benefit scheme which is contracted out of the State

Second Pension (S2P). The assets of the scheme are held in a separate fund administered by the trustee, Universities Superannuation Scheme

Limited. The University is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the pension scheme to fund the benefits payable

to employees. In 2015 the percentage was 16% (2014 16%). The University is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities

of the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore, as required by FRS 17 “Retirement benefits”, accounts for the scheme as

if it were a defined contribution scheme. The amounts of £21.4m charged to the Income and Expenditure account represents the contributions

payable to the scheme in respect of the accounting period.

The last available triennial actuarial valuation of the scheme was at 31 March 2014 (“the valuation date”), which was carried out using the

projected unit method and is currently being audited by the scheme auditor. Based on the 2014 valuation it is expected that the employer

contributions will increase to 18% from 1 April 2016.

The 2014 valuation was the third valuation for USS under the scheme-specific funding regime introduced by the Pension Act 2004, which

requires schemes to adopt a statutory funding objective, which is to have sufficient and appropriate assets to cover their technical provisions.

At the valuation date, the value of the assets of the scheme was £41.6 billion and the value of the scheme’s technical provisions was £46.9

billion, indicating a shortfall of £5.3 billion. These assets therefore were sufficient to cover 89% of the benefits which had accrued to members

after allowing for expected increases in earnings.

To calculate the technical provisions, it was assumed that the valuation rate would be 3.3% and pensions would increase by 3.5% for one

year and by 4.0% thereafter, with price inflation (CPI) at 2.2%. 

Standard mortality tables were used as follows:

Male members’ mortality S1NA [“light”] YoB tables – No age rating

Female members’ mortality S1NA [“light”] YoB tables – rated down 1 year

Use of these mortality tables reasonably reflects the actual USS experience. To allow for further improvements in mortality rates the CMI

2009 projections with a 1.25% pa long term rate were also adopted for the 2014 FRS17 figures, for the March 2015 figures the long term rate

has been increased to 1.5% and the CMI 2014 adopted, and the tables have been weighted by 98% for males and 99% for females. The current

life expectancies on retirement at age 65 are: 

 

 

 

 

 

     

                   

                    

                  

         In 2015 the percentage was 16% (2014 16%).  The University is unable to identify 
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    S1NA [“light”] YoB tables – No age rating 
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 2015 2014 

Males currently aged 65 (years) 24.2 23.7 

Females currently aged 65 (years) 26.3 25.6 

Males currently aged 45 (years) 26.2 25.5 

Females currently aged 45 (years) 28.6 27.6 

   

 

 

Existing benefits 2015 2014 

Scheme assets £49.0bn £41.6bn 

FRS 17 liability £67.6bn £55.5bn 

FRS 17 deficit £18.6bn £13.9bn 

FRS 17 funding level 72% 75% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2015 2014

Males currently aged 65 (years) 24.2 23.7

Females currently aged 65 (years) 26.3 25.6

Males currently aged 45 (years) 26.2 25.5

Females currently aged 45 (years) 28.6 27.6

Existing benefits 2015 2014

Scheme assets £49.0bn £41.6bn

FRS 17 liability £67.6bn £55.5bn

FRS 17 deficit £18.6bn £13.9bn

FRS 17 funding level 72% 75%



 

 

 

 

            

36. Pension schemes – continued           

            

 

Additional Pension Payments 

 

Following the merger with Northern College in 2001 the University is responsible for the payment of enhanced pensions to a number of 

former employees of the College, most of whom have been granted premature retirement. 

 

An actuarial valuation of the liability was carried out as at 1 December 2001, the date of the merger between the University and 

Northern College. This valuation revealed a liability of £4,596,000, which was incorporated into the accounts of the University at 

merger. 

 

 

The main assumptions made by the actuary were:       

FRS17 assumptions          

Discount Rate 3.60%         

Pension Increases 2.30%         

          

In order to maintain consistency with the approach adopted for previous years, all other assumptions, including 

demographic assumptions are those used adopted for the University of Aberdeen Superannuation and Life Assurance 

Scheme (UASLAS) 

 

In accordance with the provision of FRS 17 the actuary also undertook a valuation of the liability as at 31 July 2015: (see 

Note 23) 

 

Reserve for Northern College of Education pensions 

Calculations are carried out in respect of the pensions paid by the University of Aberdeen for the former employees of the 

Northern College of Education. 

 

Data 

Membership statistics for former employees of the Northern College of education in receipt of a pension on 31 July  are as 

follows:  

         

      2015  2014 

      £000  £000 

Old Scheme  Academic staff     172  176 

Support staff     13  13 

New Scheme  Academic staff     110  108 

Support staff     35  35 

Total      330  332 

         

Benefits to be valued 

The pensions are paid to former employees of the Northern College of Education subject to the following terms: 

• Pension increases are in line with statutory increases (currently CPI inflation); 

• Spouses’ pensions are 50% of members’ pensions at date of death; 

• Widowers’ pensions are payable in respect of females whose pensions commenced after 5 April 1988 

 

 

Results 

 2015 

£000 

 2014 

£000 

     

Liability on this basis at 31 July  4,200  4,200 

 

 

 

  

 !
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Additional Pension Payments

Following the merger with Northern College in 2001 the University is responsible for the payment of enhanced pensions to a number of

former employees of the College, most of whom have been granted premature retirement.

An actuarial valuation of the liability was carried out as at 1 December 2001, the date of the merger between the University and Northern

College. This valuation revealed a liability of £4,596,000, which was incorporated into the accounts of the University at merger.

The main assumptions made by the actuary were:

FRS17 assumptions

Discount Rate 3.60%

Pension Increases 2.30%

In order to maintain consistency with the approach adopted for previous years, all other assumptions, including demographic

assumptions are those adopted for the University of Aberdeen Superannuation and Life Assurance Scheme (UASLAS).

In accordance with the provision of FRS 17 the actuary also undertook a valuation of the liability as at 31 July 2015 (see Note 23).

Reserve for Northern College of Education pensions

Calculations are carried out in respect of the pensions paid by the University of Aberdeen for the former employees of the Northern

College of Education.

Data

Membership statistics for former employees of the Northern College of education in receipt of a pension on 31 July are as follows: 

Benefits to be valued

The pensions are paid to former employees of the Northern College of Education subject to the following terms:

• Pension increases are in line with statutory increases (currently CPI inflation);

• Spouses’ pensions are 50% of members’ pensions at date of death;

• Widowers’ pensions are payable in respect of females whose pensions commenced after 5 April 1988

172 176

13 13

110 108

35 35

330 332

2015 2014

£000 £000

2015                    2014

£000                    £000

4,200                   4,200
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36. Pension schemes – continued           

            
FRS 17 combined disclosures          
         2015  2014 
         £000  £000 

 
The following amounts were measured in accordance with the requirements of FRS 17 in respect of UASLAS and SPF and 
have been recognised in these financial statements. 

            
Analysis of amount debited(credited) to staff costs:         
Employer contributions         (3,719)  (3,722) 
Employer service cost         3,880  3,914  
Credited to staff costs         161  192  

            
Analysis of amount that is debited/(credited) to other interest/(finance income):     
Expected return on pension scheme assets        (6,310)  (6,658) 
Interest on pension liabilities        6,199  6,972  
Debited to other interest         (111)  314  
            
Analysis of amount recognised in statement of total recognised       
gains and losses (STRGL):            
Actual return less expected return on scheme assets      7,767  (1,927)  
Experience (losses) on liabilities        (852)  (960) 
Changes in assumptions         (9,493)  1,774 
Total (loss)/gain recognised via STRGL during year      (2,578)  (1,113)  
            
Analysis of amount shown in the balance sheet:         
Actuarial value of scheme liabilities        (165,124)  (151,674) 
Fair value of assets         135,291  124,469 
Defined benefit liability at end of year        (29,833)  (27,205) 
            
Reconciliation to the balance sheet:           
Defined benefit liability at end of previous year      (27,205)  (25,586) 
            
Net benefit expense for year:        (3,880)  (3,914) 
Past service cost         111  (314) 
Net return on assets         (3,769)  (4,228) 
Net benefit            
Employer contributions         3,719  3,722  
(Loss)/gain recognised via the STRGL        (2,578)  (1,113)  
Defined benefit liability at end of year        (29,833)  (27,205) 

            
Change in actuarial value of scheme liabilities:         
Scheme liabilities at prior year end        151,674   147,192  
Employer service cost         3,880  3,914  
Interest cost         6,199  6,972  
Scheme participants contributions        111  95  
Actuarial gain         10,345  (814)  
Benefits paid from scheme assets        (7,085)  (5,685) 
Scheme liabilities at current year end        165,124  151,674  
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36. Pension schemes – continued           

            
          
         2015  2014 
         £000  £000 

 
Change in scheme assets:            
Fair value on assets at prior year end        124,469  121,606  
Expected return on assets         6,310  6,658 
Actuarial gain on assets        7,767  (1,927) 
Employers contributions         3,719  3,722  
Scheme participants contributions        111  95  
Benefits paid from scheme assets        (7,085)  (5,685) 
Fair value on assets at current year end        135,291  124,469  
            
Five-year history of assets, liabilities and experience gains and (losses):       
            
   2015  2014  2013  2012  2011 
   £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

            
            
Asset experience:            
Assets gain/(loss) during period  7,767  (1,927)   13,385   2,548   3,801 
Assets gain/(loss) expressed as percentage of 
scheme assets 

5.7%  (1.5%)  11.0%  2.4%  3.9% 

            
Liability experience:            
Liability (loss)/gain during period  (852)  (960)  (203)  (5,294)  4,564 
Liability (loss)/gain expressed as percentage of 
scheme liabilities 

(0.5%)  (0.6%)  (0.1%)  (3.8%)  3.8% 

            
Liability assumptions:            
Liability (loss)/gain over period   (9,493)  1,774  (942)  (10,100)  (4,020) 
Liability (loss)/gain expressed as a percentage of
scheme liabilities 

(5.8%)  1.2%  (0.6%)  (7.2%)  (3.3%) 

            
Deficit in the scheme:            
Actuarial value of scheme liabilities  (165,124)  (151,674)  (147,192)  (140,951)  (121,243) 
Fair value of assets   135,291  124,469   121,606   104,717   97,604 
Deficit in the scheme   (29,833)  (27,205)  (25,586)  (36,234)  (23,639) 
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37. Contingent Liabilities and Assets           

            

A contingent liability exists in relation to the pension valuation recovery plan, since the institution is an employer of members within the 

scheme.  The contingent liability relates to the amount generated by past service of current members and the associated proportion of the 

deficit.  Given that the scheme is a multi-employer scheme and the institution is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and 

liabilities, the contingent liability is not recognised as a provision on the balance sheet.  The associated receivable from the scheme in 

respect of the reimbursement of the institution’s expenditure is similarly not recognised. 

 

 
38. Subsidiary Undertakings           

            

The subsidiary companies (all of which are registered in Scotland), wholly owned by the University, are as follows: 

            

Company     Principal Activity     

            

Rowett Research Institute Limited    Property holding company     

Aberdeen University Research & Innovation Services Limited Dormant       

King's College Conference Centre Limited  Dormant       

Aberdeen University Press Limited    Dormant       

            

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A contingent liability exists in relation to the USS pension valuation recovery plan, since the institution is an employer of members within

the scheme. The contingent liability relates to the amount generated by past service of current members and the associated proportion of

the deficit. Given that the scheme is a multi-employer scheme and the institution is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and

liabilities, the contingent liability is not recognised as a provision on the balance sheet. The associated income receivable from the scheme

in respect of the reimbursement of the institution’s expenditure is similarly not recognised.

The subsidiary companies (all of which are registered in Scotland), wholly owned by the University, are as follows:

Company Principal Activity

Rowett Research Institute Limited Property holding company

Aberdeen University Research & Innovation Services Limited Dormant

King's College Conference Centre Limited Dormant

Aberdeen University Press Limited Dormant
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The University of Aberdeen Development Trust is a separately operated charitable trust, with independent trustees, which raises funds 
principally for the benefit of the University. The following financial information is an abstract from the Trust’s results for the year ended 31 
July 2015. The results of the Trust are not consolidated in the University's Financial Statements. 

 
     Unrestricted Restricted  Total  Total 
     Funds  Funds  Funds  Funds 
         2015  2014 
     £000  £000  £000  £000 
            

Financial Activity            
            

Incoming resources from generated funds           
Voluntary income     1,121  3,508  4,629  7,360 
Investment income     2  460  462  470 
Total incoming resources     1,123  3,968  5,091  7,830 

            
Resources expended            
Cost of generating voluntary income    887  24  911  784 
Investment management costs                      -  7  7  64 
Governance costs     7                    -  7  7 
Grants to University of Aberdeen    197  3,864  4,061  5,177 
Total resources expended     1,091  3,895  4,986  6,032 

            
Net incoming resources           
before investment asset disposals    32  73  105  1,798 
            
Gains on investment assets                      -  1,675  1,675  627 
Net movement in funds     32  1,748  1,780  2,425 

            
Total funds at 1 August 2014    121  21,285  21,406  18,981 

            
Total funds at 31 July 2015    153  23,033  23,186  21,406 
            
Balance Sheet            

            
Tangible assets         4  9 
Investments         18,238  16,535 

         18,242  16,544 
            

Net current assets         4,944  4,862 
Net Assets         23,186  21,406 

            
Represented by:            

            
Funds            
Restricted         23,033  21,285 
Unrestricted         153  121 
Total funds         23,186  21,406 
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Highlights of our people

New Rector carried aloft to begin new role

Tradition dictates that the University of Aberdeen's new rector must ride through Old Aberdeen aloft

a bull carried at shoulder height by students of the University.

In March, Maggie Chapman, Co-convener of the Scottish Green Party, took part in the custom as part

of a ceremony which saw her officially succeed Dr Maitland Mackie, who sadly passed away last year.

The installation ceremony culminated with the new Rector being carried by students aloft Angus the

Bull, to the St Machar Bar in Old Aberdeen, where tradition also dictates that she buys a round of

drinks for her student supporters.

Professor Stephen Logan appointed new Chair of NHS Grampian

Professor Stephen Logan was appointed Chair of NHS Grampian, on stepping down as Senior Vice-

Principal at the end of January 2015.

Professor Sir Ian Diamond said: "Professor Logan has made an immense contribution to the University

throughout his career, both as an esteemed academic in neuroscience, as Dean and subsequently

Provost of the College of Life Sciences and Medicine, and latterly as Senior Vice-Principal. We are

indebted to him for his dedication and commitment over his distinguished career, and I want to express

my sincere thanks to him, to wish him every success in his new challenge, and look forward to our

continuing and vital strategic alliance with our regional NHS."

Students triumph in international science contest

A team of undergraduates who invented a new diagnostic test for a fatal disease collected a hat-trick

of awards in one of the world's leading and hotly-contested science competitions. 

Competing against 260 teams from universities across the world at the iGEM (International Genetically

Engineered Machine) competition in Boston, the team were recognised for their achievement in

detecting African Sleeping Sickness.

The students had the opportunity to apply their knowledge and skills in a real research environment

and created a device which costs less than £60, putting it potentially within reach of healthcare

systems in developing countries in greatest need. 

University athletes strike gold at 2015 BUCS Nationals

Aberdeen’s student athletes struck gold, silver and bronze at the annual British Universities & Colleges

Sport (BUCS) Nationals held in Sheffield.

The University’s medal haul included three golds, a silver and a bronze, with golds going to track star

Zoey Clark in the final of the women’s 200m race and Jonty Brown in the final of the individual rifle

competition. Zoey also won bronze in the 60-metre sprint, while Alison Wilson won silver in the Judo

final.  In the novice Judo men’s competition Michal Varga won gold in the under-73kg category, and

Peter Pearson bronze in the under-66kg. We had strong performances also in badminton, karate, fencing

and swimming.

University congratulates colleagues named in Birthday Honours

A leading international science advocate, a long-serving member of the student support team, and a

leader in medical teaching were all honoured in the 2015 Queen's Birthday Honours.

Professor Anne Glover, Vice-Principal for External Affairs, was made a Dame of the British Empire for

services to science within the United Kingdom and the European Union.  

Mrs Iris Paterson, known to generations of University of Aberdeen students as simply Mrs P, was

awarded the British Empire Medal, having served our student community for over 50 years.

Mr John Duncan, Director of Undergraduate Teaching (Inverness), and honorary senior lecturer received

an OBE for services to healthcare in the north of Scotland. 
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Highlight of research funding success

Scientists awarded £1.6M for research into soil security

Aberdeen scientists were awarded the grant from NERC to investigate how we can ensure that our

soil management practices are resilient to environmental change in the future.

The earth’s soil resources are being put under increasing pressure and there is an urgent need to ensure

that soils found across different landscapes continue to deliver vital resources for humans.

Professor Pete Smith, from the University’s Institute of Biological and Environmental Sciences, and a

team of scientists from the Centre for Ecology & Hydrology (CEH), Lancaster University, Rothamsted

Research and Imperial College London, have been awarded the grant from the Natural Environment

Research Council (NERC).

University wins funding to help Tanzania develop oil and gas expertise 

The Universities of Aberdeen and Dar es Salaam (UDSM) were awarded two million euros in EU funding

to help develop higher education in Tanzania and create a sustainable oil and gas sector in the East

African country. 

The three-year project will promote learning, research and knowledge sharing between the two

universities. Stakeholders from the public and private sector will also benefit from the arrangement.

John Scrimgeour, Executive Director of the Aberdeen Institute of Energy (AIE), described the award as

testament to the unique multi-disciplinary approach the University takes towards energy research and

its benefits to industry through the AIE, as well as its location in Europe’s energy capital.

New award to improve access to 'Nationally Significant' University collections

The University of Aberdeen's Museums team was awarded a Recognition Fund grant from Museums

Galleries Scotland to improve the curation of the Pacific ethnography collections.

The bid secured funding from the national development body for Scotland’s museums and galleries

and was one of twenty to receive a share of the £640K pot. The award of almost £40,000, will focus

on collections involving the study of peoples and cultures from the Pacific Ocean with more than

4,000 ethnographic objects from Australia, New Guinea and the Pacific Islands.

The University of Aberdeen is one of only five non-specialist museums to have had its collections

Recognised in their entirety.

University of Aberdeen leads the fight against cancer with £1.5 million grant

A £1.5million grant from Cancer Research UK will fund a five-year programme to study how tumours

develop, led by Professor Anne Donaldson and Dr Shin-ichiro Hiraga. The funds will enable the team

to gain greater understanding of how cells become cancerous and how treatment could be targeted

more effectively.

The research will focus on a cell component which plays a pivotal role in cancer but whose function

is not yet fully understood. The scientists will investigate what happens to chromosomes when this

activity goes wrong and how this contributes to cancer. The award will allow the team to extend their

work into human cells, bringing closer the possibility of treatments.

European multimillion euro award to embed responsible research 

A team of researchers and public engagement experts have been awarded €4 million by the European

Commission to inform strategy for responsible research and innovation.

The Responsible Research and Innovation (RRI) agenda has become a cornerstone for the European

Commission’s €70 billion Horizon 2020 funding programme, promoting ethics, gender equality, public

engagement, education and open access.

The University of Aberdeen’s Public Engagement with Research Unit and a team of 23 academic and

civic partners from Europe, Asia and Africa were awarded the grant, called NUCLEUS, from the Horizon

2020 programme.



Our magnificent Sir Duncan Rice Library began
24-hour opening for exam periods, and was named in the
top ten for ‘spell-binding university libraries in the world’ 

(The Independent)
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